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Transitions

We act with ...
INTEGRITY
We are impartial and use a disciplined
approach.

We
approach work
based on ...

PRIDE
We are passionate about protecting the
public from safety risks.

SIMPLICITY
To reduce complexity in our regulatory solutions and
services through common sense and clear intention.

TRUST
We earn the respect and credibility of
each other, our clients and the public.

AUTHENTICITY
To express our humanity. We are people working on
behalf of people.

ACCOUNTABILITY
To do what we say we will do.

Our Vision
We inspire safety excellence in British
Columbia.

Our Mission
We collaborate with British Columbians
to enhance the safety of technical
systems, products, equipment and work.

Our Values
We act with integrity, pride and trust, and we
approach work based on the principles of
simplicity, authenticity, and accountability.
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Organization Overview

Who We Are
At the BC Safety Authority we keep people safe. As the Province’s delegated authority, we mandate the safe
installation and use of technical equipment, and continuously assess the risk to human safety that comes
with that installation and operation. We are self-funded and not-for-profit. We administer safety standards
through education, and through issuing permits and licences. We also enforce compliance to standards to
ensure consistency and fairness, and conduct assessments – particularly inspections of high-risk situations.
We continuously research trends to advance the standard of safe practices in our province.

What We Do
We deliver safety services that apply to equipment and products, and oversee the safety of the following
industry sectors in the province:
•

Amusement rides

•

Boilers, pressure vessels and refrigeration systems

•

Electrical equipment and systems

•

Elevating devices such as elevators and escalators

•

Natural gas or propane appliances and systems, including hydrogen

•

Passenger ropeways such as aerial trams and ski lifts

•

Railways, including rapid transit

In order to prevent accidents, our services include:
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•

Assessing technical work and equipment, including collecting information through inspection,
incident investigation and registering new equipment and designs.

•

Certifying individuals and licensing contractors.

•

Supporting clients in the development of equivalent standards agreements, and auditing their safety
management plans.

•

Taking enforcement actions that encourage an impartial and equitable safety system in BC.

•

Educating our clients and the public about safety issues to support them in controlling risks.

•

Conducting research, including contributing to provincial and national code development and
updating regulations for each industry sector we serve.
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Strategic Foundation
The BC Safety Authority believes that an effective safety system is founded on a philosophy that seeks to
prevent accidents – foreseeing possible hazards and dangers and promoting an environment that will avoid
them. To achieve this, we have remained anchored on the foundational components of our operational
strategy as our commitment and transition to building a resilient, sustainable, knowledge-based organization:
•

Assessment (including inspection and auditing)

•

Research

•

Education and Outreach

•

Enforcement

•

Business of Safety

We also recognize that collaboration with other organizations that have the same passion for safety as we do
has brought in a wealth of information and cooperation, resulting in a more comprehensive safety system.
In 2011 our operational strategy focused the organization on its core strengths that will shape the safety
system for the years to come. Long-term success requires us to complement this strategy and ensure that all
key components of the safety system are front-and-centre in our decision making. To this end, for 2012 we
are introducing four Strategic Goals around which we will craft our corporate objectives: Safety, Clients, our
People and Sustainability. All are fundamental to the BC Safety Authority’s purpose and relevant to its success.
Indeed, if we manage safety concerns, the needs of our clients, the talent, adaptability, and resilience of our
people, and the sustainability of our organization, we will deliver the most advanced safety system.
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Milestones
The following is a selection of major accomplishments in 2011 that demonstrate our transition towards our
Strategic Goals of Safety, Clients, our People, and Sustainability.
Safety
• We offered 71 Electrical Tech Talks across the province, educating 1,773 electrical professionals about
eight topics of interest. Towards the end of 2011, we launched 3 Gas Tech Talks reaching 152 professionals.
We believe Gas Tech Talks will be a popular addition to our education portfolio in 2012.
• We successfully completed an Electrical Operating Permits Pilot Project in Kelowna where we proactively
informed clients of their legal requirements to hold valid operating permits. Reception by our clients was
excellent, and a province-wide Operating Permits Project is planned for 2012, covering multiple technologies.
• We launched a Targeted Incident Reduction program with a province-wide public awareness campaign
about the dangers of carbon monoxide poisoning. The program educates and promotes awareness of risks
and the safe use of carbon monoxide-producing equipment. An estimated 3,000 direct and 525,000
indirect contacts were made with our target audiences.

Clients
• Three major energy players – Shell Canada, Superior Propane and Spectra Energy – came on board as we
launched and implemented Alternative Safety Approaches (ASA). ASA offers large, safety-focused clients
an innovative approach to safety management, and qualified clients have the opportunity to use a
performance-based approach to demonstrate safety compliance. Rather than using a prescriptive,
inspection-based approach, ASA expands BC Safety Authority’s operational practices to include auditing
within a safety management system.
• We led 22 stakeholder consultation and engagement sessions in 2011, and organized 15 Technology
Advisory Committee meetings. Stakeholder engagement sessions covered topics such as Elevating
Devices Mechanic Certification and Fees for Alternative Safety Approaches, amusement devices and
passenger ropeways.
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People
• We are a top employer! For the fourth year in a row, the BC Safety Authority was named one of British
Columbia’s top employers. The BC Safety Authority received special mention for its commitment to
continuous employee skills development and its health and family benefits.
• We demonstrated continuity and depth in our leadership. Catherine Roome, who had been our Chief
Operating Officer since 2007, assumed the position of President and Chief Executive Officer after Harry
Diemer, our founding President and Chief Executive Officer, retired at the end of March 2011.
• We supported our communities. Our employees once again gave back to the community by raising nearly
$31,000 for BC Children’s Hospital Foundation, with an additional $10,000 in corporate matching funds.

Sustainability
• We started our transition to a new core operating system to improve our client services. Phase one of our
multi-year Business System Transition and Replacement project went live and brought changes to our licensing
and certification services. The new system will support clients and improve our functionality across a variety of
customer interactions, delivery channels, safety services and financial and management functions.
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Message from the Chair

I am pleased to submit the 2011 Annual Report of the BC Safety Authority to the people of British Columbia.
Never before has the BC Safety Authority operated under more trying times than 2011. The economic
downturn impacted us as well as our clients and industry. To support our clients, we continued to freeze the
costs of permits, licences and certification, but that decision strained our financial sustainability, and caused
us to run a deficit for a second straight year.
I am, however, happy to inform you that we remained focused on our mandate. We did not compromise on
the delivery of safety services to British Columbia. In fact, we aggressively pursued improvements in our
services and prudently capped our expenses. Sustainability is a premium that we must apply to both our
organization and the safety system as a whole.
We are accountable for the safety assessment of seven technologies and systems that touch the lives of
British Columbians every day. Through this report we offer an in-depth understanding into the operational and
financial management of the BC Safety Authority, and the means we hope to engage more people in the
safety system.
My profound thanks go to my fellow Board Members, the Executive Team and BC Safety Authority employees
for their dedication and passion in keeping our province safe.

Sincerely,
Peter Cook
Chair of the Board
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Message from the President
and Chief Executive Officer

We have seen immense transition within the business and industrial environment in British Columbia, across
Canada and overseas. This change is brought about by a number of reasons, from a downturn and volatility
in the economy to rapid advances and innovations in the technologies we regulate.
We welcome the challenge these ongoing changes offer. Our business model has proven its resilience in
maintaining and enhancing the province’s safety system. To meet evolving client and stakeholder
expectations, we are emphasizing increased collaboration with the different players in the safety system,
higher market penetration and new service development. This transition will create both a stronger safety
system and a more sustainable organization.
The year 2011 was characterized by intense activity directed toward service enhancements and operational
improvements to benefit our clients. We engaged our clients in meaningful exchanges about improving safety
– always our focus – while also supporting innovation and the broader economy.
The Alternative Safety Approaches program transitioned from a project to a full service offering that allows
clients to align safety with fast moving technological changes. We ended the year with three clients joining
this innovative approach to safety: Shell Canada, Superior Propane and Spectra Energy.
Based on excellent client feedback, we expanded the reach of our Tech Talks across the province. We
ramped up our enforcement efforts to promote compliance with safety standards. We completed the first
phase of our long-term Business System Transition and Replacement project: our licensing and certification
services are now on the new platform. We implemented our first Targeted Incident Reduction program with a
focus on the hazards and prevention of carbon monoxide poisoning. We accomplished this and more with
strict cost controls on our business in recognition of our financial position.
The above and several other milestone projects in 2011 have enabled the BC Safety Authority to expand its
services and strengthen the province’s safety system. We will continue to solicit the valuable input and
cooperation of our clients and industry stakeholders to sustain this transition into 2012 and beyond.

Catherine Roome, P.Eng.
President and Chief Executive Officer
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Introduction
The BC Safety Authority operates on a three-year strategic plan composed of key corporate objectives,
measurable targets and strategies for meeting those objectives and targets. The plan is revisited every year to
ensure that new research and emerging trends and challenges are taken into account – this keeps the plan
current and relevant.
Our Strategic Plan 2011-2013 was driven by five objectives that support our operational model aimed at
preventing accidents. These are education and outreach, assessment, enforcement, research and the
business of safety – the last referring to an organizational system that cohesively brings the other four
together. These five objectives collaborate to support a safety system that continues to evolve and improve.
The tables and discussion for each objective that follow summarize our progress in 2011 and are based on
year-end reporting. Targets and results have been audited. The strategies highlighted here are those that
contributed significantly to the measurement ratings reflecting our stated objectives.
As a complement to our annual report, the BC Safety Authority also issues a yearly State of Safety Report
which extensively covers incidents, assessments and inspections, and enforcement activities in each of the
regulated technologies. The data gathered is used to identify and analyze trends and risks. This report can be
reviewed in its entirety at www.safetyauthority.ca/about/publications.
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Report on Performance
Objective 1: Education and Outreach

To promote stakeholder participation in the safety system through
education programs and engagement practices that create value,
clarify accountability and support learning and innovation

Objective 1

12

MEASURABLE TARGETS

RESULTS

Manage seven education programs

Managed seven education programs

Achieve 80% education effectiveness
based on a client survey

Achieved 83% education effectiveness
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Objective 1: Analysis
The BC Safety Authority’s education and outreach efforts were rooted in research-based information and
consultations with stakeholders and industry. This way, our efforts were aimed at managing risks and
providing relevant information to different audiences impacted by our safety system. Our 2011 educational
programs included:
Think Permit – a multi-year public awareness program that delivers targeted electrical and gas safety
messages through specific channels. The focus of the Think Permit program is to educate British Columbia
homeowners about the importance of obtaining permits for regulated electrical and gas work, and to
encourage them to hire a licensed contractor.
Be in the Know About CO – a multi-year Targeted Incident Reduction program designed to increase
awareness about the risks of carbon monoxide poisoning among seniors and those who use portable propane
for recreation or necessity. In this first year, 68 targeted awareness activities were conducted across the
province, resulting in more than 3,000 direct and 525,000 indirect contacts with the identified target audiences.
Electrical Tech Talks – a multi-year program designed to educate electrical professionals about specific
technical and regulatory topics through an ongoing series of interactive tutorials. In 2011, we developed and
offered 71 Electrical Tech Talks sessions on eight different topics in various cities across the province,
educating 1,773 electrical professionals.
Gas Tech Talks – building on the success of the Electrical Tech Talks program, a parallel multi-year program
was implemented to educate gas professionals about specific technical and regulatory topics. Two new
topics were developed and piloted in preparation for full delivery in all regions across the province in 2012.
Towards the end of 2011, we conducted three Gas Tech Talks sessions, reaching 152 professionals.
Railways R.E.S.P.E.C.T. – a multi-year program to support industry organizations to develop and deliver
targeted safety campaigns to raise awareness of the risks of crossing railway tracks and trespassing among
their users and those who come into contact with their equipment.
Have a Safe Ride – a multi-year safety awareness program aimed at young users of above-surface passenger
ropeways (i.e. chairlifts) at BC’s ski areas. The program was developed in collaboration with the Canada West Ski
Areas Association (CWSAA), and delivered through on-mountain events at various BC ski areas and tradeshows.
Safe Rider – a multi-year safety awareness program designed to educate the passenger rail-riding public
about safe riding practices. The program was developed in collaboration with SkyTrain and Canada Line, and
delivered to more than 30,000 passenger rail riders through a series of in-station awareness events
throughout the year.
A client survey was performed to assess how clients regarded the BC Safety Authority’s effectiveness in
education and outreach. We achieved an 83% average percentage from contractors and operating permit
holders who responded excellent, very good or good when asked about their perception of how well the BC
Safety Authority performs in these areas.
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Objective 2: Assessment Including Inspections

To improve our clients’ ability to manage risk and reduce the
probability of incidents by examining and evaluating risk situations
against our knowledge base

Objective 2
MEASURABLE TARGETS

RESULTS

Improve the province’s Safety Certification
Qualifications
•

Implement Elevator Mechanic
Certification Program

• Stakeholder Industry Panel incorporating
stakeholder input and considering design
and development implications
• Construction Industry Training Organization
identifying training needs and delivery
models towards an apprenticeship program

•

Design Electrical Field Safety
Representative code currency

Improve higher risk physical inspection
rate by 3%

• Deferred to 2013

• Higher risk physical inspection rate for
electrical improved by 10%
• Higher risk physical inspection rate for gas
improved by 3%

Achieve 70% consistency based on
client survey
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Achieved 90% consistency

Objective 2: Analysis
Inspections are an integral part of the safety system. An inspection is more than a physical examination of
technical work and equipment. It also serves as an opportunity for safety officers to engage with clients to
help them reduce risks and to collect data that contributes to safety research.
It should be noted that inspections are but one step in the BC Safety Authority’s overall assessment of an
installation. An assessment includes reviewing the records of the installation itself and the operator or
contractor. All these are considered in a risk assessment program that assigns risk scores to regulated work
and equipment. This helps safety officers prioritize inspection and audit activities to focus on higher-risk work.
In 2011, over 60,000 assessments were performed.
In recent years, the BC Safety Authority has allocated more safety officer resources toward higher-risk work to
better address risk situations. This further improved in 2011 when 10% more resources were shifted to highrisk electrical installations and 3% more to higher-risk gas equipment.
As part of the assessment process, we take into account the qualifications of personnel doing regulated work
and attending to regulated equipment. Qualifications are a critical factor in the safety system. Presently, we
are working with the elevating devices industry to gather and process more input that will lead to the design
and development of an Elevator Mechanic Certification Program. This program will cover mandatory
requirements and professional performance standards for British Columbia’s elevator mechanics. We are also
looking into a program of continuing education and certification renewal for electrical field safety
representatives (FSR). This has been deferred to 2013 pending additional discussions with industry.
The Alternative Safety Approaches (ASA) program commenced on April 1, 2011. The program allows owners
and operators of regulated equipment to replace prescriptive requirements of safety regulations with a new
and more comprehensive approach without compromising the safety objectives of the Safety Standards Act.
This approach, which is optional to industry stakeholders, aligns safety with advancing technologies over the
long term. By the end of the year, three major energy players – Shell Canada, Superior Propane and Spectra
Energy – had come on board to participate as exemplars in the program.
A client survey was conducted to determine how clients rated the BC Safety Authority in terms of the
organization’s knowledge about industry, consistency in applying rules and interpreting regulations, codes
and standards. We received a 90% rating from contractors and operating permit holders, far above the 70%
target rate.
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Objective 3: Enforcement

To promote sustained compliance with safety legislation and to
require regulated parties to take prompt action to address risks
and to impose sanctions where necessary

Objective 3
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MEASURABLE TARGETS

RESULTS

Close 75% of compliance orders within
established turnaround time

Closed 91% of compliance orders within
established turnaround time

Achieve compliance for 75% of compliance
orders without further action

Achieved compliance for 90% of compliance
orders without further action
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Objective 3: Analysis
Enforcement remains a vital instrument to move compliance forward and is used in conjunction with
education and assessment activities. It also serves to support those who work within the safety system by
encouraging an even-handed environment in the marketplace.
The BC Safety Authority issued 195 enforcement actions in 2011. These included compliance orders1,
monetary penalties, suspension or revocation of contractor licences, and the suspension of permit privileges
and/or certificates of qualifications. In line with the BC Safety Authority’s efforts toward transparency, the
statistics on these actions were made available to the public through the BC Safety Authority’s website and
trade publications. The annual State of Safety Report also provides a detailed presentation of enforcement
statistics.
The enforcement program goes well beyond the issuance of enforcement actions – its value is reflected when
compliance is achieved. We gauged the efficiency and effectiveness of our enforcement program on the
following measures:
•

In 2011, we set a turnaround time of 80 days to close 75% of compliance orders. This meant that
the order was complied with, withdrawn or that a progressive enforcement action was taken. We
succeeded in closing over 91% of compliance orders within this established turnaround time.

•

We also set out to achieve compliance for 75% of compliance orders without a safety manager or
a safety officer having to take any further action. Compliance for 90% of these orders was
achieved without further action.

1 A compliance order is most commonly issued to require a person to take action, stop, or modify their regulated work or use of a regulated product because it
doesn’t meet code or otherwise contravenes the legislation.
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Objective 4: Research

To improve our understanding of safety risks and how best to
control them

Objective 4

18

MEASURABLE TARGETS

RESULTS

Publish five reports or research papers

Published five reports or research papers
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Objective 4: Analysis
The ongoing transition in the safety system is fuelled by several factors including, but not limited to,
technological advancements, changes in industry practices, economics and demographics. To keep abreast
of new information and remain relevant in a changing environment, the BC Safety Authority purposefully
gathers data. This is then produced into reports or research papers that contain measurements, analyses and
planning. These publications support the other operational objectives by providing information necessary in
making improvements in processes, procedures and policies.
Some of these reports are published and made available to the public every year. This is meant to encourage
others to engage in the province’s safety system. In 2011, published reports included:
•

The BC Safety Authority Annual Report 2010, which assessed the strategies and actions taken to
support our strategic plan. The report also presented and analyzed our audited financial statements
in keeping with our commitment to remain transparent and accountable.

•

The State of Safety Report 2010, which summarized the outcomes of inspections, assessments and
investigations carried out by the BC Safety Authority and provided an analysis of all these data to
develop accident prevention strategies in each regulated technology.

•

The Annual Report on Safety Regulation 2010, which reviewed the regulatory initiatives developed
and provided an account of how these impact BC’s safety system.

•

Our Business Plan 2012 – 2014, which set business objectives and measures amid anticipated
challenges for the next three years.

•

And a report on the first year for Targeted Incident Reduction (TIR) – 2011 provided recommendations
intended for internal improvement of future TIR efforts – a method to systematically reduce serious
injuries and fatalities in prioritized risk areas through the delivery of education, outreach, assessment,
and enforcement strategies. Research guides this delivery by gathering and analyzing risk
and performance information. The first TIR effort focused on awareness about carbon
monoxide poisoning.
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Objective 5: Business of Safety

To apply a balanced approach to building a resilient, knowledgebased organization that is sustainable

Objective 5

20

MEASURABLE TARGETS

RESULTS

Limit the deficiency of revenue over
expenditures to $993,000

Limited deficiency of revenue over
expenditures at $998,530

Document and initiate 100% of control plans
for critical and high risks in each technology

Documented and initiated 100% of control
plans for critical and high risks in each
technology

Document and initiate 80% of control plans
for medium risks in each technology

Documented and initiated 100% of control
plans for medium risks in each technology

Achieve 82% client satisfaction rate based
on client survey

Achieved 82% client satisfaction rate

Achieve 8% public awareness rate based on
client survey

Achieved 4% public awareness rate

Achieve 82% employee engagement rate
based on employee survey

Achieved 82% employee engagement rate
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Objective 5: Analysis
The BC Safety Authority endeavours to achieve operational efficiency, be forward-looking and sustainable.
This is necessary for the organization to provide superior safety services to the province.
We are a not-for-profit and self-funded organization. Our revenues are generated from fees charged for
installation and operating permits, licensing, certification, equipment approval and design registration. We
strive to judiciously manage our financial resources and, through this report, present our financial statements
as part of our commitment to maintain transparency.
We were fully aware that we were entering a challenging economic environment in 2011. We resolved to apply
a disciplined approach in the management of our finances. Expenses were maintained 3% below budget as
we took steps to reduce costs. At the end of 2011, we had $998,530 deficiency of revenue over expenses. A
detailed and thorough account of our financial performance can be found in the Management’s Discussion
and Analysis section of this report.
Risk management, which is closely linked to accident prevention, is at the core of our philosophy. For the past
years, we have set control plans in place to prioritize and assess risks that were identified at the start of the
each year. The plans rated risks to maintain accurate classification as critical, high, medium and low. At the
end of 2011, 100% of high-risk control plans and medium risk control plans were documented and initiated.
We have, for the past four years, been consistently named as one of British Columbia’s top employers. This is
an honour that we take pride in as we have always considered our staff as a vital element in the safety of our
province. We have provided our staff with relevant training, a competitive compensation and reward package,
and a dynamic workplace environment.
It is important that every member of the organization is engaged and we are pleased that an employee survey
conducted independently revealed a high 82% rate for overall staff engagement, satisfaction and commitment.
And lastly, we worked at providing excellent client service. We recognize great value in this service as a satisfied
client will be more engaged to support the safety system. A client survey showed that the BC Safety Authority
received an 82% client satisfaction rate among contractors and permit holders who responded excellent, very
good or good when asked to rate the BC Safety Authority’s overall performance and services. Our profile with
the general public remains low, at 4% awareness of the BC Safety Authority without prompts or aid. While our
target was higher than this amount, most of the safety services we offer on behalf of the people of British
Columbia are in fact delivered via our clients, many of whom have strong public-facing brands.
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The Role of the Board
The members of the Board of Directors are the stewards of the BC Safety Authority. They have the fiduciary
responsibility of overseeing the conduct of the business and ensuring that all major issues affecting the
business and affairs of the organization are given proper consideration. In performing its functions, the Board
also considers the legitimate interests of industry, communities and government.

Basic Qualifications
Members of the Board of the BC Safety Authority must meet the basic requirements established in the Safety
Authority Act. As well, all appointments to the Board of the BC Safety Authority must comply with the
provisions related to qualifications for directors and conflicts contained in the Safety Authority Act and in the
BC Safety Authority’s Code of Ethical Conduct.

Director Selection
Section 8 of the Safety Authority Act provides that the Board will consist of at least nine but not more than 15
members. The Minister may appoint up to three directors. The remaining directors are appointed by the sitting
directors. Non-government candidates for the Board are screened and short-listed by a nominating
committee based on the knowledge, skills and abilities of the candidates. The directors make the final
selection from a list of suitable candidates provided by the Nominating Committee.
As set out in its Terms of Reference, the Governance and Human Resources Committee acts as the
Nominating Committee. As such, it is responsible for developing, reviewing and monitoring the criteria and
processes for selecting members of the Board, other than Minister-appointed members. The Committee
maintains an inventory of the skills and experience of all sitting directors which is used to identify the Board’s
needs in terms of skills and experience when recruiting new board members.

Nominating Process for Vacancies
Board vacancies are posted on the BC Safety Authority website and advertised in regional newspapers
throughout British Columbia. Trade organizations, business groups and stakeholders may also be contacted
to attract applicants from diverse backgrounds.
The Governance and Human Resources Committee reviews applications and may interview any or all
applicants. Based on the relevant criteria, the Committee submits to the Board a list of at least one more
nominee than the number required to fill the vacancies on the Board. The Board makes its selection from the
list submitted by the Committee based upon the principle of merit.
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Nominating Process for Renewal Terms
Where the term of an incumbent director is about to expire and the incumbent is eligible for re-appointment
and wishes to remain on the Board for a further term, it is considered that no vacancy on the Board exists.
Therefore, the Board may re-appoint the incumbent, provided that the incumbent has performed satisfactorily.
The Governance and Human Resources Committee acting as the Nominating Committee co-ordinates the
evaluation process for the director(s) to be re-appointed and makes the appropriate recommendation to the
Board. The Chair of the Board, in consultation with the Chair of the Governance and Human Resources
Committee, completes an evaluation with respect to each director to be appointed. The Chair of the Board
may also consult others, including the President and Chief Executive Officer, as deemed advisable.
The evaluation of each board member is reviewed by the members of the Nominating Committee at an
in-camera meeting.
The Board reviews the recommendation and confirms or rejects the re-appointment based upon the principle
of merit.

Director Orientation
Prior to attending their first meeting, new directors are provided with an orientation and education program to
assist them in understanding the duties and obligations of directors and the contribution that individual
directors are expected to make. The Governance and Human Resources Committee is responsible for the
design and delivery of the orientation program.
Upon becoming a board member, each director is provided with a substantial package of documents relating
to the BC Safety Authority’s governance system and its business. As well, the BC Safety Authority’s executive
team meets with new directors to deliver presentations on their areas of accountability and to answer
questions about the organization.
In addition, new members are provided with links to enable them to locate information, such as relevant
legislation online. Members are also introduced to the Board’s external website which contains further
reference material. This allows new board members to access information at their own convenience.
Finally, new board members also receive a tour of the corporate office together with an Occupational Health
and Safety briefing. In 2011 one newly appointed director attended an orientation session with the Board
Chair, President and Chief Executive Officer and the Corporate Secretary.
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Ongoing Director Education
The Board recognizes the importance of ongoing director education and the need for each director to take
personal responsibility for this process.
To facilitate ongoing education, the Governance and Human Resources Committee:
•

Periodically canvases the directors to determine their training and education needs and interests;

•

Arranges for the attendance, at the BC Safety Authority’s expense, at seminars or conferences of
interest and relevance to their position as a director of the BC Safety Authority; and

•

Encourages and facilitates presentations by staff and by outside experts to the Board or committees
on matters of particular importance or emerging significance.

Procedures are also in place to ensure that the Board is kept up to date and has timely access to all
information necessary to carry out its duties. This includes:
•

Receiving a comprehensive package of documentation at least seven days in advance in preparation
for Board and Committee meetings;

•

Attending an annual two-day strategic planning session; and

•

Receiving reports from each of the Board Committees on their work at previous committee
meetings.

Individual directors also attended courses provided by the Institute of Corporate Directors on:
•

Regulatory & Financial Reporting

•

Creating a High-Performance Governance Culture: What Boards should expect from their CEOs –
and what CEOs should expect from their Boards

•

Board Role in Driving Enterprise Strategy

•

The Role of the Board in Corporate Risk Oversight

•

Board Role in Driving Enterprise Strategy

•

Using Advisory Boards to Gain Competitive Advantage

•

Standing Committees of the Board - Ensuring That They Help Rather Than Hinder Effective
Corporate Governance

Deloitte & Touche also conducted a course on: Beyond Compliance.
At regular Board meetings, directors also received presentations made by staff on significant initiatives at the
BC Safety Authority and by an external speaker on “The Northern Decade”.
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Board Performance Assessment
The Governance and Human Resources Committee conducts an annual survey to evaluate the overall
effectiveness of the Board and the Board and Committee Chairs. The Board Chair also solicits feedback from
individual directors every year through one-on-one meetings.
Each year, directors complete a detailed questionnaire for quantitative and qualitative ratings in the following areas:
•

Personal performance and contribution

•

Performance of the Board as a whole, including Board and Committee structure and processes

•

Effectiveness of the Board in fulfilling its objectives.

Feedback may also be solicited from the executive team on Board performance.
The Governance and Human Resources Committee reviews the evaluation report and makes any
recommendations for changes to enhance the performance of the Board and its Committees. The Board reviewed
the 2011 report and concluded that directors were generally satisfied with the overall effectiveness of the Board.

Committees of the Board
Each committee operates according to a Board-approved mandate outlining its duties and responsibilities.
When required, these committees make recommendations to the Board for approval.
The 2011 Committee structure included the:
•

Finance and Audit Committee

•

Information Technology Task Force

•

Governance and Human Resources Committee (also serves as the Nominating Committee)

•

Strategic Advisory Committee
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The Finance and Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities relating to the
BC Safety Authority’s financial reporting, accounting systems, budgets, internal controls, and audit process.
Over the past year the Finance and Audit Committee, in accordance with its mandate, accomplished the following:
•

Reviewed and monitored management’s plans to strengthen the financial position of the BC Safety
Authority;

•

Provided oversight to management’s financial risk management policies and procedures;

•

Provided oversight to management’s internal financial controls framework;

•

Selected and recommended to the Board for approval the external auditors and reviewed and
approved the audit plan;

•

Reviewed with management the external auditor’s financial statements, notes to financial statements
and Management Discussion and Analysis prior to publication;

•

Reviewed management’s analysis of option to adopt International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS);

•

Reviewed and approved internal auditor’s annual audit plan; and

•

Reviewed regular reports by internal auditors on the audits performed and monitored management’s
responses.

The Information Technology Task Force assists the Board in oversight responsibilities and decision making
with respect to potential significant investment in information technology arising within the strategic planning
timeframe. The main purpose of this task force is to ensure that the Board has the information and advice it
needs to make informed decisions respecting the rationale, scope, objectives and outcomes for any
significant investment in information technology.
Over the past year the Information Technology Task Force, in accordance with its mandate, accomplished the
following:
•

Reviewed and made recommendations for approval to the Board respecting the project to
substantially replace the BC Safety Authority’s IT system;

•

Maintained the governance framework for the project; and

•

Monitored management’s project implementation reports.

The Governance and Human Resources Committee assists the Board in oversight responsibilities relating
to the BC Safety Authority’s governance, compensation and human resource policies and strategies. The
Committee also serves as the Nominating Committee.
Over the past year, the Governance and Human Resources Committee, in accordance with its mandate,
accomplished the following:
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•

Managed the process to renew Board appointments for 2 directors;

•

Reviewed the Board size, complement, skills matrix and director retirement dates and recommended
for approval to the Board that the Board should be reduced by one director and vacancies occurring
in 2012 should be filled with one lawyer and one accountant;
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•

Launched the director recruitment process in November 2011;

•

Reviewed and approved the Variable Incentive Plan results and approved the 2012 plan;

•

Reviewed and recommended for approval to the Board amendments to the Code of Conduct for
Directors and Officers [now: Code of Ethical Conduct for Directors and Officers];

•

Directed the annual Board evaluation process;

•

Established performance plans for the Chief Executive Officer and Corporate Secretary and
evaluated the performance of the Chief Executive Officer and Corporate Secretary; and

•

Reviewed and recommended for appointment to the Board a labour relations mandate.

The Strategic Advisory Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities in the areas of
strategic planning, business planning, regulatory review and change, and enterprise risk management.
Over the past year the Strategic Advisory Committee, in accordance with its mandate, accomplished the
following:
•

Provided oversight to management’s risk management framework, policies and procedures;

•

Directed scenario and long-term strategic planning processes;

•

Reviewed and recommended for Board approval the State of Safety Report and the Annual Report
on Safety Regulation;

•

Reviewed regular reports by internal auditors related to operations on the audits performed and
monitored management’s responses;

•

Engaged with Technical Advisory Committee members; and

•

Monitored maintenance/management of technical risk registries and operational activities including
education and enforcement.

In-Camera Sessions
It is the practice of the Board and committees to hold in-camera sessions at the conclusion of each regularly
scheduled meeting. This is a standing agenda item for all meetings. The directors meet first with the President
and Chief Executive Officer followed by a further session with no members of management present.

Code of Ethical Conduct for Directors
Each director must sign an annual disclosure statement and comply with the BC Safety Authority’s Code of
Ethical Conduct. The BC Safety Authority’s mandate requires that its policies and practices be driven by
safety. Directors must not be affected (or perceived to be affected) by conflicting interests or conflicting
loyalties. The BC Safety Authority requires that its directors and senior officers comply with applicable
statutory standards and practice high ethical standards of business conduct.
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Director Attendance
Board and Board Committee meetings are set two years in advance to optimize director attendance.
Members of the Senior Executive are invited to attend all Board meetings and may also attend the various
Committee meetings. Non-attendance at Board and Board Committee meetings is expected to be rare and
will generally result where an unexpected commitment arises or, for newly appointed directors, there is a
conflict with a previous commitment and a Board or Committee date.
New Board and Committee appointments are generally effective on April 1 each year. In 2011 there were 7
regularly scheduled Board meetings, including a two-day strategic planning session. The following table
illustrates the number of regularly scheduled meetings each director attended as compared to the number of
meetings the particular director was eligible to attend during the 12 months that ended December 31, 2011.
In addition to regularly scheduled meetings some directors also attended a meeting with Technical Advisory
Committee members, ride-alongs with BC Safety Authority safety officers and the Lieutenant Governor’s
Awards for Public Safety.

Record of Attendance by Directors
For the 12 months ended December 31, 2011
DIRECTORS

Peter Cook
Richard Ballantyne
Hoss Budde
Brian Fehr
Steve Lornie
Dan Miller
Dan Mott
Jo-Ann Panneton2
Janet Pau
Lorna Pawluk
Leigh Ann Shoji-Lee3
John Watson
Donald Young

BOARD
MEETINGS

FINANCE
& AUDIT

IT TASK
FORCE

GOVERNANCE
& HUMAN
RESOURCES

STRATEGIC
ADVISORY
COMMITTEE

7 MEETINGS

4 MEETINGS

4 MEETINGS

4 MEETINGS

5 MEETINGS

7/7
7/7
7/7
7/7
7/7
7/7
7/7
1/1
7/7
7/7
1/1
7/7
7/7

4/4
4/4
3/3
4/4
4/4
4/4
4/4

4/4
4/4
4/4
4/4

4/4
4/4
4/4
4/4
3/4
2/2
4/4
-

5/5
5/5
5/5
3/3
2/3
2/2
5/5
1/2
-

2 Appointed to Board December 6, 2011
3 Retired from Board March 21, 2011
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TOTAL

20/20
20/20
14/14
16/16
14/14
11/11
12/14
1/1
15/15
12/12
2/3
19/19
15/15

Directors’ Compensation
The Governance and Human Resources Committee is responsible for making recommendations to the Board
respecting director compensation. Current compensation is based on director compensation in comparable
organizations as determined through an independent survey in 2009.
Director compensation is set at such a level so as to:
•

affirm the directors’ responsibilities and the professional nature of the work that directors are
expected to perform;

•

attract and retain qualified individuals to serve as directors;

•

partially compensate directors for their time and lost opportunity costs and be seen as “value
received” for value given;

•

recognize the different levels of time and responsibility associated with the Board Chair, Committee
Chair and director positions; and

•

recognize an element of public service.

As of April 1, 2010 BC Safety Authority director compensation is as follows:
•

Annual retainer for Board Chair

$40,000

•

Annual retainer for Committee Chairs

$17,000

•

Annual retainer for directors

$12,000

•

Meeting fees

$750 per meeting

The following table reflects the total retainers and meeting fees that were earned by directors in 2011.

Directors’ Retainer and Meeting Fees for 2011
DIRECTORS

Richard Ballantyne (Task Force Chair)
Hoss Budde
Peter Cook (Board Chair)
Brian Fehr
Steve Lornie
Dan Miller (Committee Chair)
Dan Mott
Jo-Ann Panneton4
Janet Pau
Lorna Pawluk (Committee Chair)
Leigh Ann Shoji-Lee5
John Watson
Donald Young (Committee Chair)
Totals:

RETAINER

$

$

17,000
12,000
40,000
12,000
12,000
17,000
12,000
1,000
12,000
17,000
3,000
12,000
17,000
184,000

MEETING FEE

$

$

17,250
10,875
19,500
11,250
12,375
10,125
10,875
750
12,000
10,500
2,250
16,125
12,375
146,250

TOTAL
RETAINER/FEES

$

$

34,250
22,875
59,500
23,250
24,375
27,125
22,875
1,750
24,000
27,500
5,250
28,125
29,375
330,250

4 Appointed to Board December 6, 2011
5 Retired from Board March 21, 2011
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Executive Compensation
The BC Safety Authority is a progressive employer and a leader in the field of safety. To attract and retain
high-calibre employees, compensation levels should be competitive and fair. Therefore, the BC Safety
Authority offers a total compensation program that is internally equitable, competitive in the external market
and recognizes exceptional performance.
To ensure that positions are remunerated equitably, the BC Safety Authority worked with an expert in job
evaluation to establish base salary ranges within a comparable ratio range of 80 to 120 per cent around the
median. Given the BC Safety Authority’s unique position between the public and private sector business
models, the BC Safety Authority has adopted a blended market compensation position that is midway
between the public sector markets and private business models.
Annual incentive awards are determined on a discretionary basis based on the achievement of strategic
objectives and targets that are established annually by the Board of Directors. The results are strictly and
rigorously correlated with performance (corporate and individual) and therefore may vary from year to year.
The Governance and Human Resources Committee makes recommendations to the Board of Directors
respecting salary ranges for senior management and administers the performance review process for the
President and Chief Executive Officer and the Corporate Secretary annually. The President and Chief
Executive Officer reviews the performance and salary of senior management.
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Executive Compensation Table - 2011
NAME AND

SALARY

PRINCIPAL POSITION

INCENTIVE PLAN

HEALTH &

ALL OTHER

COMPENSATION

PENSION

WELLNESS

COMPENSATION

PAID FOR 2010

BENEFITS

PAID

TOTAL

PREVIOUS
2 YEARS TOTALS

PERFORMANCE
(A)

(B)

(C)

(D)

(E)

Catherine Roome
President and CEO

238,684

28,620

23,674

13,860

12,101

316,940

2009 = 247,565
2010 = 256,158

Sue Gagné
Director, Human Resources

112,820

8,672

10,804

9,372

5,425

147,093

2009 = 42,282
2010 = 107,859

Phil Gothe
VP Technical Programs

158,317

17,924

15,460

9,156

8,750

209,607

2009 = 156,851
2010 = 197,376

Shelley Milne6
Corporate Secretary &
VP Legal & Policy

128,971

16,030

12,461

6,474

8,751

172,687

2009 = 158,171
2010 = 166,382

Erik Peterson7
VP Corporate Services & CFO

50,005

N/A

4,327

2,460

2,100

58,892

N/A

Brian Rowland8
VP Operations and
Service Excellence

53,892

N/A

4,732

2,940

2,975

64,538

N/A

255,233

46,963

25,371

6,132

12,500

346,200

2009 = 335,758
2010 = 345,696

Trevor Fedyna10
VP Corporate Services & CFO

70,083

20,778

6,480

11,328

212,576

321,245

2009 = 211,023
2010 = 216,360

Diane Sullivan10
VP Human Resources

64,142

17,332

5,869

8,940

230,151

326,435

2009 = 173,070
2010 = 180,692

Harry Diemer9
President & CEO (retired)

(A) Salary earned
(B) Incentive Plan Compensation Paid in 2011 based on performance and salary in 2010
(C) Pensions
(D) MSP Premiums, Extended Health Care, Dental, Group Life, Long & Short Term Disability, Accidental Death & Dismemberment
(E) Severance Pay and Salary Continuance, Car Allowance, Vacation Leave Payout
Note: 2009/2010 calculations did not include Health and Wellness Benefits

6
7
8
9
10

Based on 4 days per week
Joined BCSA October 1, 2011
Joined BCSA August 22, 2011
Retired as President & CEO March 31, 2011, Senior Principal (April 1 – December 31, 2011)
Left BCSA May 25, 2011
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Board of Directors
Peter Cook | Chair of the Board | Vancouver, BC
Director since: April 1, 2004 | Latest Date for Retirement: March 31, 2014 | Appointed by: Board
Ex officio, Finance and Audit Committee
Ex officio, Governance and Human Resources Committee
Ex officio, Strategic Advisory Committee
Ex officio, Information Technology Task Force

Peter Cook is an experienced financial services executive and professional economist whose career spans
over 40 years in business and government. For the last decade, Peter has managed both a management
consulting firm and a company that specializes in treasury services for financial institutions. Prior to that,
Peter was the President and Chief Executive Officer of Citizens Trust Company and Chief Financial Officer of
VanCity Savings Credit Union.
Peter has served as director of various companies, community associations, foundations, professional
organizations and other Authorities.
Peter is a graduate of the University of Victoria and the University of Western Ontario and completed the
Stanford University Graduate School of Business executive program.

Richard Ballantyne | Vancouver, BC
Director since: April 1, 2008 | Latest Date for Retirement: March 31, 2014 | Appointed by: Board
Member, Finance and Audit Committee
Member, Strategic Advisory Committee
Chair, Information Technology Task Force

Richard Ballantyne is the President of a consulting practice providing business development and project
execution advice to clients in the energy and marine terminal sectors. Prior to starting his consulting
business, Richard was President of Terasen Pipelines and was previously President of Trans Mountain Pipe
Line and held senior management positions at BC Gas Utility Ltd. He has served on several public, private
and association Boards including Cimarron Engineering Ltd. and Canadian Hydro Developers Inc. and is a
former Chair of the Canadian Energy Pipeline Association. Richard is a member of the Association of
Professional Engineers and Geoscientists of British Columbia, and the Institute of Corporate Directors.
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Hoss Budde | Burnaby, BC
Director since: April 1, 2010 | Latest Date for Retirement: March 31, 2016 | Appointed by: Minister
Member, Governance and Human Resources Committee
Member, Finance & Audit Committee (appointed April 1, 2011)

Hoss Budde is the owner and President of Burnaby Manufacturing, a company engaged in the manufacturing of
natural gas and propane products. Hoss’ past experience includes being a trustee of an industry medical plan
for five years, member of the Gas Advisory Committee for 10 years, member of the Gas Technology Committee
for five years, owner and President of a specialty wholesaler for the plumbing, heating and gas industries, Editor
of the Gas Journal for seven years and owner and President of a mechanical contracting company for 29 years.
Hoss is also a holder of active Sheet Metal TQ, Class “B” and Class “A” Gasfitters licenses.

Brian Fehr | Vanderhoof, BC
Director since: April 1, 2009 | Latest Date for Retirement: March 31, 2015 | Appointed by: Board
Member, Governance and Human Resources Committee
Member, Strategic Advisory Committee

Brian Fehr is the president of the B.I.D. Group of Companies which specializes in providing services to the
forestry and mining sectors, including construction, fabrication and maintenance. Brian has been involved in
the resource sector for over 30 years. Brian is the Past Chair of the Board for the BC Association for Crane
Safety and a director on the boards of several other companies and organizations, including BC Jobs and
Investment, ICBA and Baldy Hughes Therapeutic Community.

Steve Lornie | Vancouver, BC
Director since: April 1, 2010 | Latest Date for Retirement: March 31, 2016 | Appointed by: Minister
Member, Finance and Audit Committee
Member: Strategic Advisory Committee (appointed April 1, 2011)

Steve Lornie is a partner in Stonecroft Management Ltd., a North Vancouver-based construction management
firm. Steve has spent most of his 40-year career in the construction industry as a company owner, building a
substantial number of industrial, institutional, residential and commercial projects around the province. He and
his wife also operate Okanagan Crush Pad Winery in Summerland, BC. Steve currently chairs the Independent
Contractors and Businesses Association and is on the boards of a number of private corporations.

Arthur Daniel Miller | Victoria, BC
Director since: April 1, 2008 | Latest Date for Retirement: March 31, 2014 | Appointed by: Board
Chair, Governance and Human Resources Committee

Dan brings over 35 years of experience in the private and public sectors. Dan has worked as an industrial
millwright in the public sector, and has held various senior positions with the Province of British Columbia
including Premier, Deputy Premier, Minister of Energy, Mines and Petroleum Resources, Minister of Skills,
Training and Labour; and Minister of Forests.
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Board of Directors CONTINUED
Daniel Mott | Vancouver, BC
Director since: April 1, 2009 | Latest Date for Retirement: March 31, 2015 | Appointed by: Board
Member, Governance and Human Resources Committee
Member, Strategic Advisory Committee (appointed April 1, 2011)

Dan Mott is an experienced executive in the electrical industry in British Columbia. Dan has significant
experience in project management and business development and is a past Chair of the BC Construction
Industry Training Organization and the Canadian Apprenticeship Forum. Dan is also a past President of the
Electrical Contractors Association of BC. Dan has 20 years experience on the Negotiating Committee of the
Construction Labour Relations Association.

Jo-Ann Panneton | Vancouver, BC
Director since: December 6, 2011 | Latest Date for Retirement: December 5, 2017 | Appointed by: Minister
Member, Governance and Human Resources Committee (appointed December 16, 2012)

Jo-Ann Panneton is a management consultant with extensive experience in continuous improvement and
operational change management. She has worked in several industry sectors including energy, automotive
manufacturing, business advisory services, food and consumer products, building materials manufacturing,
transportation, and materials recycling. She is Founder and President of New Media Design Group Inc. and a
principal of the Stratcomm Group of Communications Strategists. Jo-Ann is Chair of the Board of Wood
Composite Technologies Inc., and a graduate of the University of British Columbia.

Janet Pau | Vancouver, BC
Director since: April 1, 2008 | Latest Date for Retirement: March 31, 2014 | Appointed by: Board
Member, Finance and Audit Committee
Member, Strategic Advisory Committee (January 1 to March 31, 2011)
Member, Governance & Human Resources (appointed April 1, 2011)

Janet Pau has extensive experience as a senior financial executive with Canfor Corporation where she retired
from the position of Vice President and Treasurer in 2004. Janet is a Chartered Financial Analyst and a graduate
of York University. She has held directorships in a variety of industries and non-profit organizations throughout
her career. She is currently serving on several boards including the University of British Columbia – Board of
Governors, and the Canadian Employment Insurance Financing Board. Janet is a member of the Financial
Executive Institute, the Institute of Corporate Directors and the Vancouver Society of Financial Analysts.

Lorna Pawluk | Vancouver, BC
Director since: April 1, 2006 | Latest Date for Retirement: March 31, 2012 | Appointed by: Board
Chair, Strategic Advisory Committee

Lorna earned a BC (Hons) Political Science, MA and LLB from the University of Alberta, and an LLM from the
University of British Columbia. Lorna is a member of the Law Society of British Columbia and past member of
the Law Society of Alberta.
Lorna holds a certificate in mediation from the Law Society of British Columbia and is Chair of the
Administrative Law Section (Vancouver) of the Canadian Bar Association in British Columbia. Lorna is also a
member of the CBA Advisory Committee to the Judicial Council of British Columbia. She is the Treasurer of
the National Administrative Law Section, Canadian Bar Association.
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Leigh Ann Shoji-Lee | Surrey, BC
Director since: April 1, 2010 | Retired: March 21, 2011 | Appointed by: Minister
Member, Strategic Advisory Committee

Leigh Ann Shoji-Lee has over 20 years of experience in the energy industry. She has held senior management
and executive positions at BC Hydro and Union Gas and its affiliated companies, including Westcoast Energy.
She has worked extensively in the areas of operations, engineering, environment, health and safety throughout
Ontario and in Vancouver. Leigh Ann is a professional engineer and a graduate of the University of Toronto. She
has previous involvement in various industry and community organizations in both Ontario and BC.

John Watson | Richmond, BC
Director since: April 1, 2004 | Served as Chair of the Board: April 1, 2004 – March 31, 2009
Latest Date for Retirement: March 31, 2012 | Appointed by: Board
Member, Finance and Audit Committee
Member, Governance and Human Resources Committee
Member, Information Technology Task Force

John Watson is a Professional Engineer and a Chartered Arbitrator with over 35 years of experience in
managing the design and construction of major industrial projects in Canada and abroad. John has served as
President of the Association of Professional Engineers and Geoscientists of British Columbia, and of the
Consulting Engineers of British Columbia.
A founding director of the Vancouver International Airport Authority, John has chaired numerous community
citizens' building committees and has served in a number of other volunteer positions.

Donald Young | North Vancouver, BC
Director since: April 1, 2009 | Latest Date for Retirement: March 31, 2015 | Appointed by: Board
Chair, Finance and Audit Committee
Member, Information Technology Taskforce

Donald Young is a chartered accountant and was a senior audit partner with the accounting firm of KPMG
LLP until his retirement. Don has provided financial and planning advice to business as a consultant and is a
Fellow and a past president of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of British Columbia. Don is a member of
the board of directors, Audit Committee, and Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee of Dundee
Precious Metals Inc. and a board member, Audit Committee Chair and member of the Corporate Governance
Committee of Kimber Resources Inc. Don has served on the boards of directors of other publicly listed and
not-for-profit organizations and is a member of the Institute of Corporate Directors.

British Columbia Safety Authority | Annual Report 2011

35

British Columbia Safety Authority

Corporate Governance

Annual Report 2011

Officers
Catherine Roome
President and Chief Executive Officer
Catherine is the President and Chief Executive Officer of the BC Safety Authority. She has been with the BC
Safety Authority since 2005, first as Vice President of Engineering, and then Chief Operating Officer. A
professional engineer, Catherine received her Bachelor of Engineering from the University of Victoria. She is
the recipient of several business and leadership awards. She is proud to lead an organization of 300
employees who live and serve in communities across BC, and are dedicated to public safety.

Sue Gagné
Director, Human Resources
Sue joined the BC Safety Authority in 2009 as the Leader, Human Resources and was appointed to Director,
Human Resources in May 2011. Previously, Sue worked for a number of companies in the Human Resources
and Organizational Development areas. Her most recent positions focused on leadership development,
organizational change, talent management, and employee engagement. Sue holds a Master of Arts degree in
Industrial and Organizational Development Psychology from the University of Guelph and is a member of the
BC Human Resources Management Association.

Phil Gothe
Vice President, Technical Programs
Phil Gothe joined the BC Safety Authority as Vice President, Stakeholder Engagement in January 2009 and
was appointed to Vice President, Technical Programs in July 2011. Specializing in Business and
Organizational Development, he has led development and execution of business strategy in forest products,
helicopter and heavy equipment industries. Phil began his career in naval operations with the Department of
National Defense. He graduated from the Royal Military College of Canada, has an MBA from the Richard Ivey
School of Business at the University of Western Ontario, and obtained a Chartered Director designation from
The Directors College.
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Shelley Milne
Corporate Secretary and Vice President, Legal and Policy
Shelley joined the BC Safety Authority in 2004 as Corporate Secretary and General Counsel. Prior to this
position, she worked for many years at ICBC in several positions, most recently as Vice President, Corporate
Law and Corporate Secretary. Shelley also worked in Hong Kong as a lawyer for three years with both Jardine
Matheson Limited and American Express. She graduated from Dalhousie University with a Bachelor of Arts
and LLB, and was called to the BC bar in 1980.

Erik Peterson
Vice President, Corporate Services and Chief Financial Officer
With over 30 years experience, Erik brings innovative financial management to the BC Safety Authority to
better position the company for a financially sustainable future. Erik has held the Chief Financial Officer
position, on an interim or permanent basis, at FPInnovations and Haywood Securities, having financially
managed annual revenues in excess of $100 million. He has also provided consulting experience to a wide
range of clients in the transportation, policing, and forest industries. Erik holds a Chartered Accountancy
designation and graduated from McGill University with a Bachelor of Commerce.

Brian Rowland
Vice President, Operations and Service Excellence
Brian Rowland joined the BC Safety Authority in August 2011 with a mandate to focus on delivering client
service excellence. Brian comes to the BC Safety Authority from Aeroplan Canada where he spent seven
years in senior operational and delivery roles improving policies and member services. Prior, he spent 15
years as a consultant at firms such as CGI, Cap Gemini and EDS Canada helping organizations improve
technology and business processes to deliver superior service to their customers. Brian holds a B.Sc. in
Management Information Systems from Penn State University and a Master of Science degree in Marketing
from the John Molson School of Business at Concordia University.
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This report discusses the financial and operating results for the British Columbia Safety Authority (BCSA) for the
year ended December 31, 2011, and should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements. This
summary provides additional information on key elements of the Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements.

Results
As anticipated at the start of the year, the BCSA recorded a net loss for the year ended December 31, 2011
totaling $998,529, just slightly worse than our budgeted loss of $993,781. We allowed for this loss in 2011
to keep fees frozen and maintain safety services. In doing so, we funded the deficit through unrestricted
net assets. Total revenues continued the down-trend of last year and totaled $39.35 million, a decrease of
$465,000 from 2010 results which fell below 2009 revenues by $118,000. Expenses remained approximately
the same as 2010 at $40.3 million, owing to mid-year cost controls and spending curtailment.
TABLE 1:
2011

Revenue
Expenses
Deficiency of revenue over expenses

$
$

39,353,000
(40,351,000)
(998,000)

2010

$

39,818,000
(40,324,000)
(506,000)

$

In late 2010, it became clear that the economic troubles that began in 2008 would not soon turn around and
that 2011 would be a difficult year. A continued down-trend in housing starts and broader economic
conditions during much of 2011 impaired revenue from installation permits. In particular, we saw a significant
drop in residential installation permit volumes (17.5% below budget) and, as a result, lower than expected
revenues for most months in 2011.
Over the course of the year, we saw an overall decrease in revenues in the Georgia Strait, Lower Mainland
South and northern Vancouver Island regions, very small increases in the interior regions and a 2.5% increase
in Lower Mainland North. Growth in the Interior is due mostly to commercial construction. Sharp declines in
residential installation permit revenue offset commercial construction growth in all regions except the Northern
Interior. New residential installation permit revenue in the electrical technology experienced the greatest
decline; this trend also occurred to a significant degree in residential installation permits in the gas technology.
GRAPH 1: REVENUE BY REGION

2010
Vancouver Island North
2011

Southern Interior
Northern Interior
Lower Mainland South
Lower Mainland North
Georgia Straight
Central Interior
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In comparison to 2010, overall transaction volumes decreased by 6.6% and generated services and related
fees revenue of $38.4 million, 4.5% behind budget and $598,000, 1.53% below 2010. We exceeded budget
expectations in the area of commercial permit revenue by 7.9%; however, we fell short of budget in residential
installation permit revenue by 20.6%.
Operating costs were 3% under budget at approximately $40.35 million, primarily due to lower than budgeted
salaries and benefits costs as a result of delays in hiring, deliberate reductions in headcount, and reductions
in contracted services.

Total Revenue
BCSA is a self-funded corporation and does not receive base funding from the Province. Revenue generated
through activities goes back into improving the safety system in British Columbia. During 2011, as it has since
2007 in most technologies, the BCSA maintained a freeze on fees.
The health of the construction industry in our marketplace, which excludes large parts of the Lower Mainland
and Vancouver Island, significantly influences BCSA’s financial performance. Installation permits are affected
by housing starts, renovation activities and commercial construction activities. In 2011, installation permits
generated approximately 55% of service fee revenues. As in late 2010, adverse economic conditions in our
marketplace had a significant impact on the construction industry during 2011. We experienced less
installation permit activity; however, higher average permit values associated with increased commercial
construction activity slightly lessened the decline. Overall in 2011, BCSA’s total revenue fell to $39.3 million,
1.2% or $465,000 less than 2010, and less than every year since 2008. The graph below shows the BCSA’s
revenues compared to previous years.
GRAPH 2: TOTAL REVENUE 2006 – 2011
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In 2011, revenue did not meet budget due to the unexpected deterioration in residential construction, a
decline in multi-family buildings, and consequent declines in residential installation permit revenues in the
electrical and gas technologies. These declines were partially offset by increases in commercial installation
permit revenues in gas and electrical, and in operating permits for gas, electrical and elevating.
BCSA’s revenue comprises services and related fees, investment income, monetary penalties and any gains
realized on the sale/disposal of assets. For 2011, services and related fees represent approximately 97.5% of
revenue; investment income makes up 2.3%, while monetary penalties and gains on the sale of property,
equipment and intangibles make up the remainder.
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GRAPH 3: TOTAL REVENUE

Services
and Related
Fees 98%
Interest Income 2%

Gain from Asset Disposals 0%
Monetary Penalties 0%

Most general economic indicators that correlated to BCSA permit activity for 2011 suggested that
BCSA revenues would strengthen. But this positive outlook would largely impact locales and urban
centers where BCSA has no mandate for gas and electrical activity, such as Vancouver and Victoria.
Housing starts in the rest of the province weakened in the first and second quarters, resulting in lower
residential permit revenues for BCSA. Compared to the first and second quarter of 2010, when the
BC economy was responding to growth associated with the 2010 Olympics, the first part of 2011
showed declines in revenue of 6.4% at the end of Q1. Declines in housing starts bottomed out in
spring of 2011 and, by the third quarter, they began to recover and showed signs of stabilization.
While revenues continued below budget, these began to recover from Q2 levels. This trend continued
into the fourth quarter and by December 2011 we began to see some improvement.
GRAPH 4: QUARTERLY% CHANGE IN SERVICE REVENUE FROM 2010
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Revenue and Volume by Technology

Seven different technology streams generate services and related fees revenue: electrical, gas, elevating
devices, boilers and pressure vessels, passenger ropeways, railways and amusement devices. The
chart below shows percentage of BCSA’s total revenue flowing from each of those technologies.

11 Numbers are as billed and do not reflect the impact of deferral, therefore amounts do not align exactly with the Financial Statements. Numbers
have been rounded to the nearest $1,000.
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GRAPH 5: 2011 SERVICES AND RELATED FEE REVENUE BY TECHNOLOGY
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The graph below compares operating and installation permit revenues for 2011 with 2010 by each
significantly impacted technology. Electrical installation permit revenue generates the most revenue, followed
by gas installation permit revenue. During 2011, we experienced a decrease in both electrical and gas
installation revenues, attributable primarily to decreases in residential construction activity in most regions.
We also saw a slight decline in Boiler operating permit revenue due partly to large plant closures on
Vancouver Island. Operating permit revenue increased in the elevating, gas and electrical technologies.

GRAPH 6: OPERATING AND INSTALLATION REVENUE
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Electrical Technology
The electrical technology provides the largest source of revenue within BCSA, accounting for 41.9%
($16,100,000) of services and related fees revenue compared to 43.4% ($16,800,000) in 2010. Revenue from
the electrical technology decreased significantly from 2010, due to declines in residential permitting volumes.
Overall, new installation permit volumes decreased by 8.6% and revenue slipped by 4.5% to $14,350,000
mostly due to declines in residential construction. The average price of a new electrical installation permit
increased to $208 in 2011 from $199 in 2010, an increase of 4.5%. This resulted from an increase in
commercial installation permits which were typically higher valued than residential installation permits.

British Columbia Safety Authority | Annual Report 2011

41

Management’s
Discussion and Analysis

British Columbia Safety Authority

Annual Report 2011

An analysis of the types of installation permits drawn in 2011 revealed that commercial installation permit
revenue was up by 7.4% ($494,000) in the electrical technology, while residential installation permit revenue
was down 13.9% ($1,170,000) compared to 2010.
Operating permit revenue, a small component of electrical revenue, increased by 3.9% to $877,000.
Operating permit revenue continued to climb due to initiatives that communicated the need for such permits
at the time of installation.
Examination volumes increased by 4.3% and revenue by 6.3% to $170,000 due to interprovincial growth,
mostly from Alberta as trades people migrated to BC to work in Alberta based oil and gas operations.
Contractor license volume grew slightly over 2010 by 3.1% while revenues declined by 0.9% resulting in very
little change in this revenue stream for 2011.
Boiler and Pressure Vessel Technology
The boiler and pressure vessel technology revenues represented the second largest revenue stream and grew
slightly, accounting for 20.8% ($8,023,000) of services and related fees revenue in 2011, compared to 19.9%
($7,692,000) in 2010. The revenue increase of 4.3% ($331,000) was due to an overall 36.5% ($183,000)
increase in design registration revenue and a 15.2% ($111,000) increase in inspection revenue. The increase
in design registration revenue was due to the demand for expedited service. Inspection revenue was up due
to increased installation permit activity and increases in special inspection billings.
2011 saw a slight decline in operating permit revenue down by 0.4% ($20,000) resulting primarily from
plant closures.
New installation permits increased in relation to the prior year by 12% or $62,000 compared to 2010.
These increases were seen across most regions. Growth can be tied to multi-unit family and commercial
construction, growth in oil and gas activity as well as increased inspection activity tied to new installations.
Due to stronger demand for certified workers in the North, revenue from their certification increased by 8.4%
to $157,000 compared to $145,000 in the prior year.
Gas Technology
The gas technology is BCSA’s third largest revenue stream, accounting for 19.0% ($7,317,000) of services
and related fees revenue. This nearly equaled the 2010 figures of 19.2% and $7,437,000. In 2011 overall gas
permit revenue decreased by 1.6% ($120,000) while volumes declined by 5%. This decline was due to the
downturn in residential installation permits.
In 2011, new installation permit revenue decreased 3.6% to $5,308,000; in 2010, new installation permit
revenue decreased by 13.4% to $5,506,000. Residential permit revenue declined by 11.2% or $392,000
compared to 2010. In contrast, commercial permit revenue grew by 9.6% or $193,000. Growth in gas
installation permits has been strongest in the regions of Vancouver Island and the Southern Interior. Here we
saw significant growth in both commercial appliance installations and residential gas installation permits after
several years of continuous declines. Operating permit revenue increased marginally by 1.9% to $349,000.
Gas fitters must renew their Certificate of Qualifications every three years. The current renewal cycle began in
late 2010 and carried on through the first half of 2011 resulting in an increase in revenue of 15% or $55,000
over 2010. Examination revenue decreased by 14.6% to $275,000.
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Elevating Devices Technology
The elevating devices technology accounted for 15.1% ($5,813,000) of services and related fees revenue
compared to 15.1% ($5,832,000) in 2010. Revenue from the elevating technology declined by 0.3% or
$19,000 compared to 2010.
The down turn in multi-unit residential construction has had a significant and long-term impact on the elevating
industry and this is the second year in succession where we have seen declines in Elevating revenue.
On the plus side, revenue from operating permit revenues continued to grow in 2011 with an increase of 1.4%
to $4,338,000. Revenue from design registration was up by 4% or $17,000, a precursor to installation permits
which indicates that this technology may soon begin to show signs of post-recession recovery.
Railway Technology
The railway technology represented 1.6% ($613,000) of services and related fees revenue in 2011 compared to
1.1% ($437,000) in 2010. This represents an increase of $176,000 (40%) in revenue. This increase is entirely
attributable to a one-time services contract with the Ministry of Transport and Infrastructure (MOTI) for
$175,000 associated with work performed by the BCSA in support of the new Evergreen Line. Notwithstanding
the MOTI contribution, there were no significant changes in railway revenue or volumes in 2011.
Passenger Ropeways Technology
The passenger ropeways technology represented 1.3% ($505,000) of services and related fees revenue in
2011, an increase in revenue of 33% or $126,000 over 2010. This increase is due in part to fee increases
implemented in 2011. However, this technology also saw increases in volumes of 12.8% compared to 2010
due to significant growth in installation permits for both recreational and industrial lift equipment. Installation
permit revenue was up by $53,000 (487%) compared to 2010.
Amusement Devices Technology
The amusement devices technology represented 0.3% ($132,000) of the services and related fees revenue in
2011. Overall, revenue is up by 25.1% or $27,000 from 2010. This growth is due to increased fees as well as
growth in operating permit volumes of 11.5%. Growth was also seen in design registration, licensing of
contractors and new installation permits.

Other Revenue
Investment Income
Income from investments markedly increased over 2010 by 134%. Interest income amounted to $911,000,
128% above budget owing to our decision in December 2010 to change investment managers. These gains
were made under guidelines that continue to guarantee the security of the investment.
Monetary Penalty Revenue
In an effort to continue the implementation of our operational model and focus on areas of high risk, BCSA
levied monetary penalty enforcement actions on several contractors and equipment operators and others.
Monetary Penalties issued in 2011 amounted to $24,550. An adjustment of $25,750 for a monetary penalty
issued in 2010 resulted in a year-end revenue deficit of ($1,200) for 2011 Monetary Penalty Revenue. Further
information on monetary penalties is available in our State of Safety report.
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Expenses
In response to the poor economic conditions impacting 2011 revenues, BCSA contained its operating
expenses without affecting its safety activities.
Total expenses in 2011 were $40.35 million which represented an increase of only $28,000 over 2010, 3.0%
below budget. For 2012, we budgeted zero increases in headcount and curtailed other spending. The graph
below shows the breakdown of BCSA’s operating expenses in 2011. 66.9%.of costs incurred were on
account of salaries and benefits.
GRAPH 7: OPERATING EXPENSES BY TYPE

Amortization of Property, Equipment & Intangibles 6.5%
Building Occupancy 5.7%
Salaries
& Benefits
66.9%
General Operating & Administration 12.1%

Transportation 4.6%
Communication & Information Services 3.2%
Corporate Governance 1.0%

Several cost category balances changed in 2011 as compared to 2010. The graph below shows a high level
comparison of expenses by key category. Significant year-over-year changes are discussed below.
GRAPH 8: OPERATING EXPENSE COMPARISON 2011 VS 2010
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Salaries and Benefits
Salaries and benefits expenses increased $1.4 million (5.5%) to $27,013,000, mostly due to negotiated and
general wage increases, as well as settlements for terminated employees. Headcount additions budgeted for
2011 in 2010 accounted for 8 positions more in 2011 (For 2012 we froze headcount at 2011 levels).
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Salaries and benefits were under budget by $1.0 million (3.6%) for the year ended 2011 as a result of delays
in hiring and significant reductions in at-risk pay incentives for management level positions.
General Operating and Administration
General operating and administration expenses decreased from 2010 levels by $195,000 (4.5%) to
$4,115,000 due to containment of discretionary spending.
Communications and Information Services
Communications and information services expenses decreased from 2010 by $1,141.000 (35.6%) to
$2,062,000. We froze modifications to our outmoded legacy computer system while developing a new
system to replace it, the costs of which have been capitalized.
Corporate Governance
Corporate governance costs decreased over 2010 by $149,000 (27.5%) to $394,000, largely the result of a
decrease in number of Board members for 2011 and a reduction in the number of meetings compared to the
prior year, which is more fully disclosed in the Corporate Governance section of the annual report.

Capital
During 2011, BCSA purchased $5.74 million of capital equipment and intangibles. Capital expenditures
mainly comprised development of a new computer system, sustaining the vehicle fleet for our field personnel,
tenant improvements and furniture and equipment.
2011 capital investment was significantly higher than the 2010 investment of $2.1 million as we invested
$3.68 million in the development of our core system replacement. 2011 is the second year of a multi-year
project to replace our software systems. With the modernization of our systems, we expect to increase the
breadth and depth of our client self-service capabilities and build a data-driven approach to our safety
strategies.

Reserves and Unrestricted Assets
BCSA has operating, capital, and education reserves, all of which contribute to our sustainability. An
operating reserve established in 2004 was set to fund up to three months (25%) of the annual operating
expense budget to provide for unforeseen economic shocks. In 2011 the Board of Directors decided that
15% would offer a more appropriate reserve. The result was an adjustment of $3.85 million to $6.2 million,
reflecting 15% of the 2012 annual operating expense budget. The 2011 deficit and movements in the other
net asset accounts further reduced the operating reserve by $1.43 million to the figure shown below. The
capital reserve was established in 2007 to fund long-term capital investment projects such as the
modernization of facilities and information technology systems. The capital reserve for 2011 was adjusted
downward for the $3.68 million spent on the modernization of the new system in 2011 and then was adjusted
upward by $5.86 million for the remainder of the Board approved system modernization budget and other
2012 capital budget requirements. The education reserve was established in 2010 in accordance with the
Safety Standards Act to reserve monetary penalties collected by the BCSA to be expended on accident
prevention programs and safety education. To the end of 2011, there has been $127,300 collected in
monetary penalty, $32,000 of which was expended on education programs in 2011. Unrestricted net assets
are net assets that do not meet any of the above definitions.
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TABLE 2:
2011

Investment in Property, Equipment and Intangibles
Operating Reserve – Internally Restricted
Capital Reserve – Internally Restricted
Education Reserve – Externally Restricted
Unrestricted
Total Net Assets

2010

$

10,878,000
4,760,000
8,178,000
95,000

$

$

23,911,000

$

7,733,000
10,079,000
6,000,000
60,000
1,008,000
24,880,000

We anticipate that the majority of the capital reserve will be used during 2012. The largest capital expenditure
planned in 2011 is the second year of a multi-year project to replace our software system. With the modernization
of this system, we expect to increase the breadth and depth of our client self-service capabilities and build a
data-driven approach to our safety strategies. The remaining capital expenditures are to maintain our fleet
vehicles and offices to a professional and safe standard.

Risk and Uncertainty
BCSA is susceptible to risks that, if unmitigated, could lead to significant financial and operational consequences.
BCSA’s Risk Management Department focuses on risk at two levels: the Enterprise Level and the Technical Level.
At the Enterprise level we maintain an Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) framework in which we make
regular reports to the Strategic Advisory Committee of the Board of Directors. The ERM framework has
established a consistent approach to risk identification, quantification & control. These processes attempt to
mitigate the impact risks may have on the organization. The internal audit department, which reports regularly
to the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, carries out operational and control audits to test for
compliance and identify areas of risk that require attention.
At the Technical Level we assess every electrical and gas installation permit for risk based on a variety of
factors including type of occupancy, the type of hazard associated with the equipment or installation, the
certified individual or owner’s history. The score resulting from this assessment is used to identify permit
situations where a physical assessment is appropriate. In 2011 we undertook more than 50,000 such
assessments based on RAP (Risk Assessment Program) scores.
BCSA continuously improves its risk management system and processes. Managing complex risk systems
and identifying technical areas in need of attention demands high levels of competency and capacity. As we
proceed into 2012 and beyond we will continue to strengthen and further refine our risk management system
and processes.
BCSA’s overall risk management program focuses on two categories of risk:
•

High impact risks where a faster response is vital

•

Other key business risks

POTENTIALLY HIGH IMPACT RISKS, SENSITIVE TO REACTION TIME
Catastrophic Event - Technical
A sudden technical event might accidentally trigger a demand for response and service in the cause of public
safety. For example, in early 2012, explosions and fire leveled the Babine Sawmill in Burns Lake, killing two
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employees and injuring many others. Though not a first responder, BCSA reacted appropriately and promptly
to ensure successful execution of the mandate of the Safety Authority with respect to incident investigation.
From the results of this investigation, BCSA will learn ways to prevent similar accidents in the future. BCSA
has developed procedures which include: incident reporting, incident investigation and crisis communication.
Together these form the critical elements of our crisis management protocols. To the extent necessary, BCSA
will regularly update and test these protocols to accommodate and overcome scenarios like the one that took
place in Burns Lake.
Catastrophic Event - Natural
Similarly, a significant catastrophic act of nature might likewise demand a business response that might
stretch, and draw heavily, on BCSA resources. In this case BCSA like most other businesses in the Province
would likely find some part of its business out of service – e.g. knocked out by the effect of a big seismic
event or something like it. BCSA has a well developed Business Continuity Plan which includes incident
response communication, business response (workarounds for critical operational activity) and business
recovery and resumption (longer term recovery). The plan is regularly updated and tested.
External Threat to Information Technology (IT) Systems and Connectivity
It is possible that some act of vandalism, hacking or other destructive event could result in our computer
system integrity being compromised or interrupted. The perpetrators could be outside or inside our
organization. This could limit or stop our capacity to do business, which would impact revenue in the short
term and reputation, and therefore revenue, in the long term. Controls Include: multiple firewalls, secure
socket-layer protocols, intrusion detection software, anti-virus software and system lockout protocols.
Penetration tests have been completed by independent experts in 2011. A penetration test directs a range of
possible events at a control to determine what it takes to violate our security. A second opinion from another
firm of independent experts confirmed the adequacy of our controls. The IT Department will carry out
penetration tests every 6 months or after major changes. Ultimately, if we are compromised our business
continuity plan provides manual workarounds for critical operational activities. The plan was also recently
reviewed to include a communications process. The IT Department have a disaster recovery plan which
includes backups to a “remote” cold site located in the Interior.
Investment Risk
BCSA reviewed its investment practices in 2010 to ensure they met BCSA’s risk appetite and accountability
requirements. This resulted in a change of investment manager to a new professional firm who now manages
BCSA’s portfolio of investments (approx. $28 million). Management continuously reviews risks and returns
and makes improvements as necessary.
OTHER POTENTIALLY HIGH IMPACT RISKS
Revenue Risk
Economic fluctuations have a significant impact on new installation permitting activity. BCSA earns its revenue
through permitting activities. In an economic decline, developers often substitute larger projects for smaller
ones resulting in lower permitting revenues. While permitting activity may remain relatively unchanged, the
average revenue per permit may decrease. BCSA mitigates the impact of lost revenue due to a reduction in
permitting activities through cost reduction measures and the use of unrestricted assets and a reserve fund.
Interest Rate Risk
BCSA earns interest income from investments which include short-term bond funds and money market funds.
Fluctuations in interest rates could sub-optimize our returns and investment values. The Board of Directors is
responsible for setting BCSA’s investment policy and assigns the oversight and asset allocation decisions to
the Finance and Audit Committee. BCSA’s investment goal is capital preservation, and its investments are
reviewed on a quarterly basis.
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Liquidity Risk
Cash-flow fluctuations could affect our ability to fund our working capital requirements and achieve our
business objectives in a timely manner. BCSA manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash and
reserves. Cash flow projections are prepared and reviewed regularly by the Audit Committee to ensure a
sufficient continuity of funding. BCSA experiences low risk in this area as funds are invested in short-term
financial instruments and the investments are well managed.
Operational Risk
As a regulator, BCSA is faced with risks associated with the quality of its services and effective administration
of the Safety Standards Act. Continuous training of its employees, risk based resource allocation processes,
strong governance practices, and establishment and auditing of standards policies and procedures help
BCSA contain operational risk.
BCSA relies on accurate data from its internal systems in order to optimize revenue, guide its resource
allocations and enhance safety decisions. In 2010, after completing a business system review and rigorous
due diligence, BCSA selected partners and successfully completed a detailed study to initiate the
replacement of our software system to support our strategic and operational objectives. The project has been
approved & delivery is based upon three phases with stringent oversight and reporting structures. Phase 1
was successfully implemented on October 17, 2011 within $50,000 of budget target. Phase 1 covers
licencing and certifications. Phase 2 is progressing well.
Human Capital Risk
BCSA is exposed to risks resulting from changing demographics and therefore may not be able to attract or
retain the personnel necessary to achieve our business objectives. The organization is in the process of
managing this risk with succession plans and a robust workforce planning forecast. BCSA’s personnel
performance management process ensures that individual performance goals are aligned with BCSA’s overall
strategic goals and objectives. As well the BCSA has developed several programs to attract and retain talent
that have made us one of the top employers in Canada, one of the Top 100 Employers in British Columbia
and one of the Top Family-Friendly Employers in Canada.

Accounting Policy Changes
There were no significant changes to accounting policies for the year ended December 31, 2010. Minor
changes to accounting policy are found at Note 3 of the financial statements.
Accounting Policy
The Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”) has released a revised version of its Handbook,
which allows Not-For-Profit Organizations a choice between applying International Financial Reporting
Standards or Accounting Standards for Not-For-Profit Organizations. After reviewing the advantages and
disadvantages of each standard, and consultation with accountants, our auditors, and our counterpart
financial leaders, the BCSA has elected to adopt Part III of the CICA Handbook, Accounting Standards for
Not-For-Profit Organizations, effective January 1, 2012. For the BCSA, this new standard will result in some,
but not significant, accounting, presentation and disclosure differences. We are currently in the process of
reviewing the detail in the Accounting Standards for Not-for-Profit Organizations and the transition rules in the
first year of adoption, and will have a more thorough understanding of the absolute impact on BCSA upon
completion of that review. We are currently developing our detailed implementation plan for migrating to the
new standard.
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Outlook
Financial Management for Sustainability
There are numerous factors, some beyond our control, which could cause actual results to vary from outlooks
and budgets. There are several significant risk factors between fulfillment of the 2012 budget, and a
worsening financial situation:
•

the uncertain strength of the provincial economic recovery

•

the management of the costs of modernizing our software system

•

the success of our consultation with stakeholders to increase fees

•

our success in negotiating a fair and reasonable collective agreement with our employees

All forward-looking statements within this report should be understood to involve risks and uncertainties that
could cause actual financial or operating results to differ significantly.
TABLE 3: PROJECTED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
2011
ACTUAL

Revenue
Services and Related Fees
Interest and other Income
Total Revenue

$
$

38,404,641
948,221
39,352,862

Expenditures
Deficiency of Revenue over Expenditures

$

Capital Purchases

$

2012
BUDGET

$
$

40,292,326
800,000
41,092,326

40,351,391
(998,529)

$

41,481,513
(389,187)

5,744,614

$

7,849,360

For 2012, we are anticipating total revenues of $41.1 million, 4.4% greater than our revenues for 2011 of
$39.4 million.
Moderate Revenue Growth
We have accepted guidance from economists who anticipate that the BC economy will grow by 2.3% largely
driven by personal consumption, residential investment, business investment and government spending. The
construction industry is expected to be the fastest growing led by increases in commercial, industrial and
building construction. Residential construction is expected to grow but at a slower pace with a stronger
focus on new construction. Our assumptions allow for steady, modest growth in commercial installation
permitting activity and nominal growth in residential permitting activity. Operating permits, inspections and
design registrations are expected to follow historical trends with growth between 2% to 5% across
technologies. To further bolster revenue growth in 2012 we will pursue new revenue opportunities building the
revenues from Alternative Safety Approaches and from pilot exercises to resolve unpermitted work.
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Looking further ahead the economic recovery is expected to continue to accelerate in 2013 and 2014 on the
strength of domestic-oriented industries. The fastest growing industries are forecast to be forestry, mining,
wood products manufacturing, and construction. Growth in the province’s construction industry should lead
domestic industries in 2012 & 2013. By 2014 improved economic conditions in the United States, rebuilding
in Japan and continued growth in China are expected to bolster export growth.
The BCSA has been able to sustain safety services during these uncertain economic times while holding to
the freeze on rates for most technologies for the past four years. In 2011 we increased fees for Passenger
Ropeways and Amusement Devices. For 2012, fees in the Electrical, Gas, Elevating Devices and Boilers,
Pressure Vessels and Refrigeration Systems technologies will increase 3% subject to consultation with our
clients. Proposed fee changes in the Railways technology will be consulted on in 2012 for effect in 2013.
Managing Operating Expenses
We make every effort to deliver necessary safety programs as efficiently and cost effectively as possible. 2012
is a year of development and improvement. We are continuing the redesign of our processes and systems
commenced in 2011 while sustaining prevention through education and enforcement. We are committed to
doing this with a minimal increase (2.8%) over 2011 operating expenses to $41.5 million.
Investing in Infrastructure
For 2012, we have budgeted $7.8 million in capital expenditures, of which $5.3 million relates to the second
phase of the project to replace our computer system. The remainder is for maintenance of computer
hardware, other software, the vehicle fleet and offices.

Conclusion
In 2011, BCSA performed as expected, substantially on budget and maintained a strong financial position.
Despite the turbulent economic conditions, BCSA was within 5% of budgeted revenues from activities, and
managed to contain expenses to 3% less than budget. This resulted in a net deficit of $998,529; only slightly
less than our budgeted deficit of $993,781. We have planned in 2012 for a deficit for the third successive
year. While we consider these deficits to be one way in which BCSA returns to stakeholders surpluses
earned in better economic times, deficits over the long term threaten the sustainability of the business and for
the longer term the BCSA must return to break-even and reasonable surpluses.
We are committed to increasing the level of participation in the provincial safety system through a renewed
concentration on our enforcement strategy and by increasing our education and public safety campaigns. In
2012, BCSA will continue to support many important safety initiatives and invest in the longer-term efficiency
and effectiveness of our organization.

Disclosure
Throughout this Management Discussion and Analysis we have presented forward-looking information based on
assumptions and numerous factors beyond our control that could cause results to differ from expectations. All
forward-looking statements within this report should be understood to involve risks or uncertainties that could
cause actual financial or operating results to differ significantly. BCSA cautions that readers of the Management
Discussion and Analysis should not place reliance on any forward looking information included in this section.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
April 19, 2012

To the Board of Directors of British Columbia Safety Authority
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of British Columbia Safety Authority, which comprise
the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2011 and the statements of changes in net assets,
operations and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes which comprise a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Management’s responsibility for the financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of British
Columbia Safety Authority as at December 31, 2011 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Chartered Accountants
PricewaterhouseCoopers Place, 250 Howe Street, Suite 700, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada V6C 3S7
T: +1 604 806 7000, F: +1 604 806 7806
“PwC” refers to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership.
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Statement of Financial Position
As at December 31, 2011
2011

2010

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash
Accounts receivable (note 5)
Prepaid expenses
Investments (note 4)

$

3,125,285
1,122,101
543,766
7,849,000

$

6,280,508
1,238,183
610,600
28,621,224

12,640,152

36,750,515

20,679,650

-

Intangible assets (note 6)

4,586,245

1,096,461

Property and equipment (note 7)

6,291,412

6,669,190

44,197,459

44,516,166

8,523,595
10,426,626

8,057,605
10,197,013

18,950,221

18,254,618

Accrued employee future benefits (note 8)

551,468

508,047

Deferred leasehold inducements (note 9)

784,862

873,848

20,286,551

19,636,513

10,877,657

7,733,233

94,890

59,900

Capital reserve

8,177,950

6,000,000

Operating reserve

4,760,411

11,086,520

23,910,908

24,879,653

Long-term investments (note 4)

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Payables and accruals
Deferred revenue

NET ASSETS

Investment in property, equipment and intangibles
Externally restricted

$
Commitments (note 11)
Contingencies (note 12)
Approved by the Board of Directors

Director
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Director

44,197,459

$

44,516,166

Statement of Changes in Net Assets
For the year ended December 31, 2011
INVESTMENT
IN PROPERTY,
EQUIPMENT AND
INTANGIBLES

Net assets
- Beginning of year

$ 7,733,233

EXTERNALLY
RESTRICTED

$

CAPITAL
RESERVE

OPERATING
RESERVE

59,900 $ 6,000,000 $ 11,086,520

2011

2010

TOTAL

TOTAL

$ 24,879,653 $ 25,587,841

Deficiency of revenue
over expenses

-

-

-

(998,529)

(998,529)

(505,765)

Net change in unrealized
gain on available-for-sale
financial instruments

-

-

-

62,194

62,194

69,317

Realized gain on sale of
investments - reclassification
to statement of operations
of previously unrealized
amounts

-

-

-

-

-

(271,740)

Amortization of property,
equipment and intangibles

(2,612,573)

-

-

2,612,573

-

-

Investment in property,
equipment and intangibles
- net

5,756,997

-

(3,678,050)

(2,078,947)

-

-

Reduction in education
reserve for accident
prevention and safety
education programs

-

(32,410)

-

-

(32,410)

-

Increase in education
reserve from monetary
penalties

-

67,400

-

(67,400)

-

-

Increase in capital reserve

-

-

5,856,000

(5,856,000)

-

-

Net assets - End of year

$10,877,657

$

94,890

$ 8,177,950 $ 4,760,411 $ 23,910,908 $24,879,653

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Operations
For the year ended December 31, 2011
2011

Revenue
Services and related fees
Other income (note 13)

$

Expenses
Salaries and benefits
General, operating and administration
Amortization of property, equipment and intangibles
Building occupancy
Communications and information services
Transportation
Corporate governance

Deficiency of revenue over expenses

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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$

38,404,641
948,221

2010

$

39,002,549
815,305

39,352,862

39,817,854

27,013,580
4,115,399
2,612,573
2,313,197
2,061,694
1,840,512
394,436

25,598,562
4,310,821
2,449,878
2,385,308
3,202,484
1,832,426
544,140

40,351,391

40,323,619

(998,529)

$

(505,765)

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended December 31, 2011
2011

2010

CASH FLOWS PROVIDED BY (USED IN)

Operating activities
Deficiency of revenue over expenses
Adjustments to determine cash flows
Amortization of deferred contributions
Amortization of deferred leasehold inducements
Amortization of property, equipment and intangibles
Gain on sale of investments
Gain on disposal of property and equipment
Education reserve expenses
Increase in accrued employee future benefits
Change in non-cash working capital accounts (note 14)

$

(998,529)

$

(505,765)

(105,921)
2,612,573
(37,922)
(32,410)
43,421
878,519

(9,841)
(105,921)
2,449,878
(271,740)
(7,288)
26,008
(161,851)

2,359,731

1,413,480

16,935

-

(1,919,197)
57,957
(3,825,417)
(845,232)
1,000,000
-

(1,526,053)
8,126
(551,675)
(300,371)
28,620,393
(28,620,393)

(5,531,889)

(2,369,973)

Decrease in cash

(3,155,223)

(956,493)

Cash - Beginning of year

6,280,508

7,237,001

Financing activities
Leasehold inducements received
Investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment
Investment in intangible assets
Interest on investments re-invested
Proceeds on sale of investments
Purchase of investments

Cash - End of year

$

3,125,285

$

6,280,508

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Operations
British Columbia Safety Authority (“BCSA”) is a not-for-profit organization incorporated through the Safety
Authority Act. BCSA administers the service delivery components of the Safety Standards Act delegated to it
by the Province of British Columbia. The delegation of authority is based on an Administrative Agreement
between the Province of British Columbia and BCSA. The Administrative Agreement establishes the rights
and responsibilities and terms and conditions of both parties.
BCSA delivers services in British Columbia by partnering with business, industry and the general public to
enhance the safety of technical systems, products, equipment and work. BCSA is responsible for overseeing
the safety of amusement rides and recreational railways, boilers, pressure vessel and refrigeration systems,
electrical equipment and systems, elevating devices, gas appliances and systems, passenger ropeways, and
railways.

2

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of accounting
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles.
Use of estimates
The presentation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the year. In particular,
management makes estimates to determine the percentage of completion on revenue and accrued employee
future benefits at the end of the year. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Financial instruments
All financial instruments are classified into one of five categories: held-for-trading, held-to-maturity
investments, loans and receivables, available-for-sale financial assets, or other financial liabilities. All financial
instruments are measured in the statement of financial position at fair value except for loans and receivables,
held-to-maturity investments and other financial liabilities, which are measured at amortized cost. Subsequent
measurement and changes in fair value will depend on their initial classification as follows: held-for-trading
financial assets are measured at fair value and changes in fair value are recognized within the statement of
operations; available-for-sale financial instruments are measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recorded directly in unrestricted net assets.
Net assets
a) Investment in property, equipment and intangibles
Net assets invested in property and equipment and intangible assets represent the amount of net assets
that are not available for other purposes because they have been invested in long-term assets.
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b)

Externally restricted net assets
In accordance with the Safety Standards Act, the education reserve was established in 2010 to reserve
monetary penalties collected by BCSA to be expended on accident prevention and safety education
programs.

c)

Capital reserve
The capital reserve was established by the Board of Directors in 2007 to fund long-term capital
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investment projects, such as the modernization of facilities and information technology systems. For
2011, the capital reserve includes the funding requirement for all 2012 capital investments including the
investment toward the modernization of the information technology systems.
d)

Operating reserve
The operating reserve represents the accumulated unrestricted surplus of BCSA. In 2004, the Board of
Directors agreed to an operating reserve target equal to three months of the annual operating budget to
ensure the sustainability of BCSA through unforeseen economic events. In 2011, this reserve target has
been adjusted to fund up to 15% of the annual operating budget, or approximately $6.2 million.

Intangible assets
BCSA customizes third-party software for internal use. Direct costs attributable to new customizations or
significant modifications to previous customizations are capitalized after technological feasibility has been
established. Direct costs attributable to minor modifications of previous customizations are expensed. Costs
to support or service internally customized third-party software are expensed in the period incurred. All
software is recorded at cost and amortized using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the
asset (3 to 7 years).
Direct costs attributable to major safety program development are capitalized. The useful life estimate will be
determined as the project nears completion.
Property and equipment
Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Leases that transfer substantially all the benefits and risks of
ownership are capitalized. Amortization of property and equipment commences when it is brought into
service and is provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets at the following
annual rates:

Computer hardware
Software systems integral to hardware operations
Vehicles
Furniture and equipment
Leasehold improvements

3 to 5 years
3 years
5 years
5 years
term of the lease

Investments
Investments are classified as available-for-sale and are recorded at fair value based on published quoted
prices at year-end. All investments are held in pooled funds.
Short-term investments include those investments which BSCA intends to hold for projects in the next fiscal
year. Investments that are expected to be realized beyond the next fiscal year are classified as long-term.
Deferred leasehold inducements
Deferred leasehold inducements include amounts received in lease agreements related to leasehold
improvements. Amortization of deferred leasehold inducements is recognized over the length of the lease on
a straight-line basis.
Revenue recognition
Where the fee covers a specific period, revenues are recognized evenly over that period. Where the fee does
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not cover a specific period and is earned over a period of time, estimates are used to determine the period
over which revenue is recognized, based on past history. In both cases, unearned fees are recorded as
deferred revenue. All other revenues are recorded when services are performed.
Employee benefit plans
Public Service Pension Plan
BCSA and its employees contribute to the Public Service Pension Plan, a jointly trusteed pension plan. The
board of trustees, representing plan members and employers, is responsible for overseeing the management
of the pension plan, including asset investment and plan administration. The pension plan is a multi-employer
contributory defined benefit pension plan with over 56,000 active members and 37,600 retired members, as
at March 31, 2011. Employers currently contribute between 6.28% and 10.28% of salaries.
Every three years, an actuarial valuation is performed to assess the financial health of the plan and the
adequacy of the contribution rate for funding the plan. The latest valuation as at March 31, 2011 indicated a
$275 million unfunded liability. The actuary does not attribute portions of the liability to individual employers.
In order to fund the liability, the contributions of employers will be increased April 1, 2012 to a range of 6.68%
to 10.93% of salaries.
The plan is accounted for on the defined contribution basis, as it is not possible to separately identify the
assets and liabilities of the pension plan that relate to BCSA.
Defined Supplemental Retirement Benefit Plan
Under the collective agreement and terms of employment, BCSA accrues a provision for a defined
supplemental retirement benefit plan as employees render the services required to earn that benefit.
BCSA accrues the cost of these employee future benefits over the periods in which the employees earn the
benefit. The cost of employee future benefits is actuarially determined using the projected benefit method
pro-rated on service and includes, but is not limited to, management estimates of salary increases, the
retirement age of employees, and other actuarial factors. The discount rate used is based on market rates as
at the measurement date. Past service costs from plan amendments are deferred and amortized on a
straight-line basis over the expected remaining service life of the employee group. Actuarial gains (losses)
arise from changes in actuarial assumptions used to determine the accrued benefit obligation. Net actuarial
gains or losses that exceed 10% of the accrued benefit obligation are amortized on a straight-line basis over
the expected remaining service life of the employee group.
The latest valuation was at December 31, 2010. Information related to this plan is provided in note 8.
Taxes
BCSA is a “tax exempt” organization as described in the Income Tax Act and, as such, is exempt from federal
and provincial income taxes. The provision of permitting and licensing services is an exempt supply under the
Excise Tax Act for HST purposes. Other services provided are subject to HST.

3

Future Accounting Pronouncements
In December 2010, the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”) in conjunction with the
Accounting Standards Board (“AcSB”) issued new accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations.
Going forward, private sector not-for-profit organizations will be required to adopt either Part I of the CICA
Handbook - International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) or Part III of the CICA Handbook Accounting Standards for Not-for-Profit Organizations.
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BCSA will be adopting Part III of the CICA Handbook - Accounting Standards for Not-for-Profit Organizations
for its fiscal year ending December 31, 2012. The financial reporting impact of the transition is currently under
review.

4

Investments
Investments are currently managed by a third party investment manager and are held in short-term money
market and short-term bond funds. For 2011, BCSA has decided to present as current assets only that
portion of investments expected to fund capital projects in 2012 ($7,849,000). The balance ($20,679,650) is
shown as a long-term asset:
2011
COST

Money market fund
Bond fund

COST

FAIR VALUE

$

7,082,567
21,407,733

$

7,082,567
21,446,083

$

8,001,792
20,643,277

$

$

28,490,300

$ 28,528,650

$

28,645,069

$ 28,621,224

2011

2010

7,849,000
20,679,650

$ 28,621,224
-

$ 28,528,650

$ 28,621,224

Current portion
Long-term portion

5

2010

FAIR VALUE

$

8,001,792
20,619,432

Financial Instruments
BCSA classifies its financial instruments as follows: (i) cash as held-for-trading (measured at fair value); (ii)
accounts receivable as loans and receivables (measured at amortized cost); (iii) investments as available-forsale (measured at fair value); and (iv) payables and accruals as other liabilities (measured at amortized cost).
The carrying value of accounts receivable and payable approximates fair value as at December 31, 2011 and 2010.
BCSA classifies financial instruments measured at fair value into one of three levels of a fair value hierarchy
according to the relative reliability of the inputs used to estimate the fair values: Level 1 - quoted prices in
active markets; Level 2 - measurements determined using valuation models that employ observable inputs;
and Level 3 - measurements determined using valuation models that employ unobservable inputs. All
financial instruments held by BCSA at December 31, 2011 are considered Level 2 (2010 - Level 2).
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Financial instruments risk, exposure and management
BCSA has exposure to the following risks from its financial instruments: credit risk, market risk, interest rate
risk, and liquidity risk.
a)

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of loss resulting from the failure of a customer to honour its financial obligations. The
only financial instrument that potentially subjects BCSA to concentrations of credit risk is its accounts
receivable. Provisions for doubtful accounts are made at a minimum for all accounts over 120 days. The
maximum exposure to credit risk in terms of accounts receivable in 2011 and 2010 was as follows:

Trade and other receivables
Allowance for doubtful accounts

2011

2010

$

1,516,353
(394,252)

$ 1,766,661
(528,478)

$

1,122,101

$ 1,238,183

The aging of accounts receivable as at December 31, 2011 and 2010 was as follows:
2011

Current
Past due (31 - 60 days)
Past due (61 - 90 days)
Past due (91 - 120 days)
Past due greater than 120 days
Trade and other receivables
Allowance for doubtful accounts

60

$

666,367
261,152
138,192
61,015
389,627

2010

$

745,778
236,815
131,843
123,747
528,478

1,516,353

1,766,661

(394,252)

(528,478)

$ 1,122,101

$ 1,238,183

b)

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market prices. Fair value risk is the potential for loss from an adverse movement
in the value of a financial instrument. BCSA is exposed to fair value risk on its investments held. If bond
prices increased or decreased by 10% with all other factors remaining constant, net assets would have
increased or decreased by approximately $2,145,000. BCSA is not significantly exposed to foreign
currency risk or other price risk.

c)

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that BCSA’s investments will change in fair value due to future fluctuations in
market interest rates. The risk arises primarily on interest bearing financial instruments held in pooled
money market and bond funds.
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d)

6

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that BCSA will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.
BCSA’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will have sufficient working capital and
cash flow generated from operations to fund the operations and settle debt and liabilities when due.
BCSA also maintains an operating reserve to mitigate this risk (note 2). Contractual obligations and
payments related to financial liabilities as at December 31, 2011 are all expected to be paid by December
31, 2012.

Intangible Assets
COST

Software systems under development
Software systems
Safety program costs
under development

$

$

142,511
$

7

4,135,011
6,731,202

ACCUMULATED
AMMORTIZATION

11,008,724

6,422,479

$

$

6,422,479

2011

2010

NET

NET

4,135,011
308,723

$

142,511
$

4,586,245

432,021
574,322
90,118

$

1,096,461

Property and Equipment
COST

Computer hardware
Software systems integral to
hardware operations
Vehicles
Furniture and equipment
Leasehold improvements

$

3,094,984

ACCUMULATED
AMMORTIZATION

$

352,615
4,059,371
1,730,071
5,044,817
$

14,281,858

2,140,592

$

338,889
2,728,170
861,330
1,921,465
$

7,990,446

2011

2010

NET

NET

954,392

$

13,726
1,331,201
868,741
3,123,352
$

6,291,412

859,464
61,162
1,541,713
982,898
3,223,953

$

6,669,190
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Accrued Employee Future Benefits
BCSA accrues a provision for a defined supplemental retirement benefit plan.
a)

Changes in the accrued employee future benefits
2011

2010

Accrued benefit obligation
Unamortized net actuarial loss

$

682,584
(131,116)

$

686,455
(178,408)

Accrued employee future benefits

$

551,468

$

508,047

b)

Components of supplemental retirement benefit plan expense
2011

2010

Current service cost
Interest cost
Amortization of net actuarial loss

$

39,681
31,796
10,976

$

31,063
36,583
4,243

Retirement benefit plan expense

$

82,453

$

71,889

The significant actuarial assumptions adopted in measuring BCSA’s accrued benefit obligations are as
follows:

Discount rate
Rate of compensation increase

2011

2010

3.90%
3.20%

4.75%
3.20%

The accrued benefit obligation is not funded as funding is provided when benefits are paid. Accordingly, there
are no plan assets.
c)

62

Contributions to the Public Service Pension Plan and the defined supplemental retirement benefit plan
expense accrual during the year were $1,998,571 (2010 - $1,840,112).
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9

Deferred Leasehold Inducements
2011

Deferred leasehold inducements - Beginning of year

$

Add : Inducements received during the year
Less : Amortization to rent expense
Deferred leasehold inducements - End of year

$

873,848

2010

$

979,769

16,935

-

(105,921)

(105,921)

784,862

$

873,848

10 Capital Management
The capital structure of BCSA consists of net assets invested in property and equipment and intangibles,
externally restricted net assets, capital reserve and operating reserve. The key objectives of BCSA’s capital
management are to provide adequate funding to ensure sustainable delivery of service activities in
conformance with the Safety Standards Act.

11 Commitments
BCSA leases office space with future minimum annual payments over the next five years, estimated as
follows:

2012
2013
2014
2015
2016

$ 1,244,535
1,165,741
1,091,426
1,047,682
965,014
$ 5,514,398
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12 Contingencies
In the ordinary course of operations, BCSA may be contingently liable for litigation and claims with
customers, suppliers and employees. Specific claims have been brought against BCSA, the outcome of
which is indeterminable at this time. Liabilities on any litigation are recognized in the financial statements
when the outcome becomes reasonably determinable. In management’s judgment, no material exposure
exists at this time on the eventual settlement of any existing litigation. Liabilities of $16,800 have been
recognized in the financial statements at December 31, 2011 (2010 - $nil).

13 Other Income
2011

Investment income
Gain on disposal of property and equipment
Monetary penalties issued
Gain on sale of investments
Amortization of deferred contributions

2010

$

911,499
37,922
(1,200)
-

$

388,936
7,288
137,500
271,740
9,841

$

948,221

$

815,305

14 Change in Non-Cash Working Capital Accounts
2011

Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses
Payables and accruals
Deferred revenue

2010

$

116,082
66,834
465,990
229,613

$

63,103
(25,697)
88,586
(287,843)

$

878,519

$

(161,851)

15 Corresponding Figures
Certain corresponding figures have been reclassified where necessary to be consistent with the presentation
adopted in the current year.
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Board of Directors

Officers

Peter Cook – Chair
Richard Ballantyne
Hoss Budde
Brian Fehr
Steve Lornie
Arthur Daniel Miller
Daniel Mott
Jo-Ann Panneton
Janet Pau
Lorna Pawluk
Leigh Ann Shoji-Lee*
John Watson
Donald Young

Catherine Roome
Sue Gagné
Phil Gothe
Shelley Milne
Erik Peterson
Brian Rowland

Committees of the Board
Finance and Audit Committee Members:
Donald Young – Chair
Richard Ballantyne
Hoss Budde
Steve Lornie
Janet Pau
John Watson
Peter Cook, Ex officio
Catherine Roome, Ex officio
Governance and Human Resources
Committee Members:
Arthur Daniel Miller – Chair
Hoss Budde
Brian Fehr
Daniel Mott
Jo-Ann Panneton
Janet Pau
John Watson
Peter Cook, Ex officio
Catherine Roome, Ex officio

IT Task Force Committee Members:
Richard Ballantyne – Chair
John Watson
Donald Young
Peter Cook, Ex officio
Catherine Roome, Ex officio
2011 Stakeholder Engagement Program Initiatives
Major initiatives:
•
Internal and external stakeholder
consultation sessions on Alternative Safety
Approaches fee structures
•
Elevating Devices Mechanic Certification
Program Consultation
•
Passenger Ropeways Fee Consultation
•
Amusement Devices Fee Consultation
•
Technology Advisory Committee
membership recruitment
•
2012-2014 Fee Consultation

Strategic Advisory Committee Members:
Lorna Pawluk – Chair
Richard Ballantyne
Brian Fehr
Janet Pau
Leigh Ann Shoji-Lee*
Peter Cook, Ex officio
Catherine Roome, Ex officio

*retired March 21, 2011
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Technology Advisory
Committee Members
Amusement Devices
Technology Advisory Committee
June Goudron
Joe Medeiros
Scott McQueen
Brent MacDonald
Chris Steunenberg
NOTE: This committee was disbanded in October 2011

Boiler Technology Advisory Committee
Bob Norton¥ – Incoming Chair
Eric Steinson* – Outgoing Chair
Sanja Boskovic¥ – Incoming Co-Chair
Garry White* – Outgoing Co-Chair
Derek Belton
Wayne Borrowman†
Geoff Chesterton (May 2011 to August 2011)
Terry Connors¥
Ed Florencio
Rinus Jellema¥
Bert Johnson¥
John Martin
Blaire Masztalar*
Richard Michael¥
Brian Morgan*
Steve Patrick*
Brian Reiter*
Brian Topping*
Electrical Technology Advisory Committee
Harry Van Beest – Incoming Chair
Ted Simmons* – Outgoing Chair
Bill Strain¥ – Incoming Co-Chair
Keith Switzer* – Outgoing Co-Chair
Eddie Alfonso*
Ben Barker¥
Steve Dyck¥
Farmand Ghafari*
Nathan Gurvich¥
Stan Hussey*
Fred Kaempffer*
Mark Kelvin¥
Nick Leforte¥
Deanna Littlejohn¥
Eddie Low†
Jim Mummery¥
Seth Nair
Jim Narayan*
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Elevating Devices
Technology Advisory Committee
Corrie Archer – Chair
Ray DeMeyer – Co-Chair
Trevor Dilworth*
Mike Funk¥
Rob Houston¥
Teddy Lai¥
Randy Martin¥
Louie Rapos¥
Mark Townsend¥
Bunny Wortman
Gas Technology Advisory Committee
David Pope* – Outgoing Chair
Dan Bradley – Incoming Chair
Brian Sweet – Incoming Co-Chair
Bob Bush¥
Ian Chang¥
Jamie Good*
Russ Johnson
Byron Rilling¥
Ken Spicer*
Darrick Tisseur¥
Trevor Todd
Phil Wynne¥
Passenger Ropeways
Technology Advisory Committee
Wayne Wiltse – Chair
Bruno Mannsberger – Incoming Co-Chair
Pat Boyle
Arnie Budd¥
Danny Cox
Sue Dixon
Ken Green*
Mike L’estrange (May 2011 to September 2011)
Warren Sparks
Jamie Tattersfield*
Noel Thompson
George Trousdell

*to May/June 2011
¥

May/June 2011 to present

†

August 2011 to present

Risk Reduction
Working Groups
BOILER

ELEVATING DEVICES

Mandatory Maintenance on <30m2 Low Pressure
Steam Boilers
Brian DeJager
Blaire Masztalar
Mark Simpson

Emergency Operations Risk Reduction
Corrie Archer
Kevin Cheong
Rick Cheung
Ray DeMeyer
Houssam Hamze
Mike Helmer
Inge Holvik
Lyle Kuhnert
Janice Lee
Wendy Morrison
Brad Shearer

ELECTRICAL

Review of Canadian Standards Association
Z462/PISA/ESR Section 18
Seth Nair
Ivan Pye
Stray Voltage Mitigation for Farms with Livestock
Ulrich Janisch
Fred Kaempffer
Mark Kelvin
David Rogers
Canadian Electrical Code 2012
Eddie Alfonso
Fred Kaempffer
Mark Kelvin
Nick LeForte
Eddie Low
Jim Mummery
Ivan Pye
Ted Simmons
Bill Strain
Ark Tsisserev
Harry Van Beest
400A metering for residential services
Bob Cornwell
Mark Kelvin
Nick LeForte
Ivan Pye
Bill Strain

GAS

Non-refillable Propane Cylinders
Jamie Good
Ken Spicer
Brian Sweet
Gas Contractor Licensing Review
Dan Bradley
Russ Johnson
Byron Rilling
Darrick Tisseur
Brian Zinn
PASSENGER ROPEWAYS

Proactive Approach to Aging Passenger Ropeways
Jason Gill
Ken Green
Noel Thompson
Wayne Wiltse

British Columbia Safety Authority
Corporate Office
505 – 6th Street, Suite 200
New Westminster, BC V3L 0E1
Toll Free 1.866.566.7233
www.safetyauthority.ca
info@safetyauthority.ca

RPT-5070-00

